
1

Agenda
Contact Officer: Paul Bateman, Democratic Services Officer
Tel: 01235 422523
E-mail: paul.bateman@southandvale.gov.uk

Date: 2 June 2020

Website: www.southoxon.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee
WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 10 JUNE 2020 AT 6.00 PM

Joining instructions for members of the public: to watch the virtual meeting, you 
must copy the following link to your internet browser:  

https://tinyurl.com/ybdlqjoe 

When your web browser opens, select “Watch on the Web instead” button and then 
when the “Welcome to the live event!” window opens select “join anonymously”.

Members of the Committee:
Ian Snowdon (Chairman)
Peter Dragonetti (Vice-
Chair)
Ken Arlett
David Bretherton
Kate Gregory

Lorraine Hillier
Alexandrine Kantor
George Levy
Jo Robb

Ian White
Celia Wilson

Substitutes
Sam Casey-Rerhaye
Stefan Gawrysiak
Victoria Haval
Kellie Hinton

Mocky Khan
Axel Macdonald
Jane Murphy
Caroline Newton

Anne-Marie Simpson
Alan Thompson

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These include 
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special 
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on 
this agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting.

MARGARET REED
Head of Legal and Democratic

Public Document Pack

https://tinyurl.com/ybdlqjoe


2

1 Chairman's announcements  

To receive any announcements from the chairman and general housekeeping matters.

2 Apologies for absence  

To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.

3 Declarations of interest  

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on 
the agenda for this meeting.   

4 Urgent business  

To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent and to receive any notification of any applications deferred or 
withdrawn.

5 Proposals for site visits  

6 Public participation  (Pages 5 - 28)

Statements on the applications which have been duly received are now published and 
thus available to the public. They will not be read out at the meeting.

ADDITIONAL NOTE

Statements received

A schedule of the written representations received is attached. Individual submissions 
are also shown below.

Development control applications

Summary index of applications

Site Address Proposal Application No Page

7 Steven Orton 
Antiques, 
Shirburn Road, 
Watlington, 
OX49 5BZ  

Reserved Matters application 
following Outline approval 
P18/S0002/O for up to 37 retirement 
houses, care home and 4 units of 
staff accommodation at Shirburn 
Road, to consider appearance, 

P19/S2380/RM 29 - 54



3

landscaping, layout and scale 
As amended / clarified by plans and 
information submitted 3 September 
2019, 3 April 2020, 1 May 2020, 6 
May 2020 and 13 May 2020.

8 Hartgrove, 
Oxford Road, 
Tiddington, 
OX9 2LH  

Application for reserve matters in 
relation to outline planning 
application  P17S3359/O for the 
erection of 2 double storey dwellings 
(as amended by visibility splays and 
turning circles accompanying email 
from agent received 13 March 2020).

P20/S0436/RM 55 - 74

9 69-71 Gidley 
Way, Horspath, 
OX33 1RG  

Demolition of an existing house and 
outbuildings and the erection of five 
flats and two semi-detached houses.

P20/S0453/FUL 75 - 96

10 2A Littleworth, 
OX33 1TR  

Erection of dwelling with associated 
access and landscaping works (as 
amended by drawing PA02 Rev C 
altering access and car port and 
amplified by vehicle tracking plan 
accompanying email from agent 
received 20 November 2019).

P19/S2814/FUL 97 - 
112

Planning applications - background papers and additional 
information

All the background papers with the exception of those papers marked 
exempt/confidential (e.g. those held in enforcement files) used in the reports in this 
agenda are held in the application file (working file) referenced by the application 
number. 

Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be 
reported and summarised at the meeting.



This page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire DC

Planning Committee 10 June 2020

Statements from the public

Item 7; Steven Orton Antiques, Shirburn Road, Watlington, OX49 5BZ, P19/S2380/RM

 Giles Brockbank, Ridge Consultants (separate PDF)
 Pyrton Parish Council (separate PDF)

Item 8; Hartgrove, Oxford Road, Tiddington, OX9 2LH, P20/S0436/RM

 Tiddington with Albury Parish Council 
 Matthew Organ (separate PDF)

Item 9; 69-71 Gidley Way, Horspath, OX33 1RG, P20/S0453/FUL

 Laurence Lowe, Anderson Orr Architects (separate PDF)

Item 10, 2A Littleworth, OX33 1TR, P19/S2814/FUL

 Alex Cresswell, JPP Consultants
 Helen Smith and Mark Robinson
 Wheatley Parish Council (separate PDF)

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Tiddington with Albury Parish Council submission to the Planning Committee regarding 
P20/S0436/RM: Hartgrove, Oxford Road, Tiddington OX92LH (Item 8)

Detailed below are the comprehensive reasons for the parish council’s objection to the 
planning application for Hartgrove, P20/S0436/RM.

Over Intensification 

The parish council believe that the proposed development will result in a cramped 
appearance and remarkably close proximity to the existing neighbouring properties of 
Denby and Ambleside.

The proposed gaps are significantly less than at any other point along the Oxford Road. The 
planning officer states that the gaps between existing properties on the Oxford Road vary, 
they do, but these proposed gaps will be much smaller than those down the rest of the 
road.

The additional land that has been purchased by the developer, allows the front line of the 
new properties to be moved back in line with the other houses on the Oxford Road. The 
parish council would request that the planning office considers the houses to be either 
narrower and deeper (as per Ambleside to the left of unit 1), or rather than two detached 
houses, be modified to be two semi-detached homes (repositioning to allow wider gaps to 
the existing neighbouring properties).

The location plan of the existing road, included in the planning application, does not show 
all the properties to the west of Hartgrove. If you look at a plan showing the whole road you 
will see the width of plots and the spacing, it is clear to see the proposed spacing will not be 
in keeping with the existing acceptable and appropriate spacing between properties. 

In addition the two proposed 3 bedroom dwellings, are much larger than the most recently 
built 4 bedroom and 3 bedroom properties on the Oxford Road, namely Ambleside and 
Foxgate.

Inadequate Access from the Slip Road

The two new properties will be accessed from the Oxford Road (A418), on to a service road, 
then into the driveway of the properties. All properties on the Oxford Road have their own 
access point from the service road onto the Oxford Road. 

It should also be noted that the service road is used for visitor parking, so an access point 
per property is crucial to allow 24/7 access for the residents from and to their own 
properties.

The proposed plans show unit 2 utilising the existing Hartgrove access point onto the Oxford 
Road but indicates that unit 1 will jointly use the access point in front of Ambleside. The 
parish council believe this would be both dangerous, unworkable, and inappropriate. The 

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



parish council would request that the planning officer states a condition to the planning 
application that unit 1 also has their own access point to the Oxford Road.

* * * * * * * * *

Page 8



Item 10, 2A Littleworth, OX33 1TR, P19/S2814/FUL Statement from Alex Cresswell, 
Associate, JPPC Chartered Town Planners

As we are local people who intend to remain living on this plot we are, of course, aware and 
mindful of the objections that have been raised locally, and have taken great care to work 
with the planning department to ensure that every one of these has been satisfactorily 
overcome. On this point, it has taken a considerable amount of time to reach the stage of 
your officer recommending a positive recommendation – a number of detailed and 
technical studies have been provided, both upfront and during the course of the application. 
For the scale of development proposed the level of detail is, in our view, extensive and a 
demonstration of the commitment to achieve a proposal that works for all. At every stage 
we have looked to meet the points raised by objectors and statutory consultees and feel 
that the resultant development is an all-round acceptable proposal. Clearly locals have 
expressed reservations with what has gone before, however it is important to note that we 
have looked at every angle that was a concern with the site previously and found an 
appropriate solution, the measures of which are detailed on the submitted plans and 
referred to in your officers’ report. The principle of residential development in this location 
should be beyond question, given the sustainable and well-connected location; and, with 
regards to the only reasons for the previous refusal, there are no technical objections to the 
proposal whatsoever. On all grounds, highways, environmental, ecology and drainage, your 
technical experts have concluded the scheme can be delivered without any outstanding 
concerns. We would ask that you give considered weight to this rather than what we feel 
are objections from local residents that, whilst we can empathise with as change can often 
be resisted, have been shown to be unfounded. 

One point we would however like to pick up in your report relates to the driveway and 
impact on neighbouring amenity. As your officer points out, it is not entirely clear why this 
was an issue previously. Our research indicates it related to vehicles passing the existing 
house and the potential for light spill from vehicles entering the side due to the gradient 
change. This is how we have sought to look at the issue and you will note that a suitably 
located wall is proposed – this provides a solid barrier to light and, rather than a fence, also 
has added acoustic benefits. The demarcation achieves an acceptable sub-division between 
the two plots and will allow the two properties to sit side by side without issue. 

We are really pleased that we have been able to arrive at a position where, as the Planning 
Officer’s report demonstrates, any impact on the surrounding area falls well below and 
within the acceptable thresholds. 

We hope you are able to approve this application as submitted. 

Alex Cresswell

BA (Hons) MA MRTPI, Associate JPPC Chartered Town Planners

* * * * * * * * *

Page 9



Continued Objections to Application Reference P19/S2814/FUL 2a Littleworth, OX33 1TR 
(Item 10) Statement from Helen Smith and Mark Robinson

Thank you for your letter of 1 June with reference to the above.  It is most unfortunate that 
we will be unable to address our concerns to the Planning Committee directly on 10 June.  
In technology terms recent times have demonstrated to most of us that this is certainly 
easily achievable and I would urge you most strongly to open meetings in this way in the 
future.

As this is not possible we would like to register our continued objections to these proposed 
plans.

1. Access to the site and the danger to road safety:

a. The access is on a blind bend on a busy road (the traffic survey averages road use 
and fails to take into account the fact that this is a rush hour rat run from the ring road to 
the M40).  There is also commercial traffic going to the businesses on Littleworth yard and 
the car wash has resulting in increased traffic and drivers on the road confused about where 
to queue.

b. This will be exacerbated by the steepness of the driveway and a paucity of lighting 
(due to bats on the site).  Further I have concerns that this will undermine the railway 
cutting bank supporting the road and any alterations to this bank i.e. the proposed removal 
of the hedge, will further negatively impact the local ecology.

2. Ecology: this site is an integral part of the wildlife corridor from Shotover and the 
railway bridge at the end of the site is a link for roosting bats to the colony in the railway 
tunnel at the end of Littleworth.  In addition to bats we also have owls, slow worms, foxes, 
muntjac, kites etc. etc. Also the stream which runs through this plot is the last open water 
before culverting in Keydale Road.  

3. Drainage: we know from bitter experience that the stream and local drainage are 
unable to cope with current demands on the system and we are dismayed that further 
investigation of the impact e.g. of surface water and rectifying the condition of the drains 
will not be conducted before any planning permission is granted.

4. Contaminated Land: similarly we are concerned that investigation of this known 
problem – just try growing things in the bits of the garden which were the railway – has 
been deferred until planning permission is granted.  I am aware that any planning consent 
would be conditional on addressing and fixing this problem but this does not take into 
account the expense involved and how this would impact the development.

5. The site continues to be dark and cramped – the additional land acquired is small 
and largely un-useable due to the topology and the main source of light and view for the 
proposed new house would be our garden and house.  The planning officer’s 
recommendations incorrectly state that the houses on Keydale Road are all single storey as 

Page 10



they are in fact all dormer bungalows and both I and my neighbours have upper storey 
bedroom windows directly opposite this land.  In addition, I have a conservatory dining 
room which is closer than the statutory recommendation of 25m and would be directly 
overlooked by the windows in the north of the proposed development.

Overall, we are concerned that 6 months of consultation over this proposal has resulted in 
no constructive resolution to the road safety issues and has failed to take into account the 
significant impact of this proposed development on the local ecology and green amenity.  
Further, such important decisions as the management of drainage and the issue of 
contaminated land have simply been deferred and there is risk involved in committing to a 
plan where the full scope, cost and time of the build have not been adequately assessed.

Helen Smith and Mark Robinson

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



SODC Planning Committee 10 June 2020 – 
Application reference: P19/S2380/RM  
 
Submission from Pyrton Parish Council: 
 
 

  Pyrton Parish Council is concerned at failures of due process in relation to 

the final determination of this important application by SODC’s Planning Committee.  

Our grounds for concern are: 

a.   The Parish Council is not being allowed to address the Committee or answer any 

questions its members may wish to raise.  We are instead required to supply a 

written statement at short notice, which members of the Committee will have had 

little time to read. We question why the Parish Council, representing the people of 

Pyrton, should be excluded in this way.   Other district councils have not imposed the 

same restriction, despite the constraints of lockdown.  We have investigated the 

suggestion that this might be due to technical or security issues, but this does not 

stand up to scrutiny. 

b.  When the Parish Council was informed a week ago that the application had been 

placed on the Planning Committee agenda for 10 June, we were told that the 

Planning Officer was recommending that the application be refused.   At that stage 

we did not receive access to the officer’s report. It was not until we finally obtained 

sight of that two days later that we discovered she was in fact recommending 

approval. 

c.  The site at issue in this application is a sensitive one at an ancient crossroads 

next to the Chilterns AONB and alongside Shirburn’s Conservation area and Historic 

Park and Garden.  It is inappropriate for the Committee to rule on it while members 

are not in a position to visit the site because of the lockdown and social distancing 

requirements. 

In our view, the above considerations make it inappropriate for the application to be 

considered at this meeting or until points a and c above have been addressed. 

As a brownfield site, PYR1 is earmarked for development in the Pyrton 

Neighbourhood Plan, which requires that any development should take account of 

SODC’s 2015 Landscape Capacity Assessment.  The Assessment stipulates that the 

height of any new building should not exceed those that were there previously, and 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



that the mass and scale of the built form should be reduced.   This application fails 

on both those counts. 

 After considerable effort by the council’s planning officer, the applicants have 

finally made a reduction in the height of the buildings.   We welcome that, but the 

tallest building will still exceed the height of the previous structures by over two 

metres.  Meanwhile, the building mass significantly exceeds rather than reduces 

what was there before.  We have no problem in principle with the site being given 

over to a care home, but object to the number of houses attached to it.  This is 

making the development overcrowded and raises serious issues of sustainability. 

 If you read the summary of the Parish Council’s objections to the proposals in 

the officer’s report, you might find them repetitious.   However, this simply reflects 

the numerous variations in the applicant’s plans that have been submitted to try and 

get round the uncomfortable issue of mass.  Regrettably, none of the variants have 

addressed the fundamental problem: that there are too many dwellings being 

squeezed into the site, and too many parking spaces (no less than 87 at the last 

count) required in consequence. The car parking will have more capacity than 

Watlington’s town car park. 

 When the Planning Committee approved the outline application for a Care 

Home and up to 37 assisted living units last year, we raised the issue of density and 

were told that this was not for consideration at that stage but would be discussed 

when the Reserved Matters came to committee.  Unless the Planning Committee 

wishes to be excluded from considering the issue of scale, we would suggest it 

debate it now rather than let the current plans go through on the nod without proper 

scrutiny.   

 You will note that the officer’s report acknowledges in Para 6.26 that the 

development will harm the setting of the AONB (which is what the Chilterns 

Conservation Board and SODC’s own Landscape Officer have said previously).  

However, this is glossed over in the conclusion which reiterates that the scale of the 

development needs to be “appropriate to its setting” (Para 7.2), and then simply 

declares that the scale, appearance etc “are acceptable” (Para 7.4). 

 No justification is given for this subjective assessment – which may reflect the 

difficulty of providing one since the building mass does not simply exceed what was 

Page 14



previously on the site, but has been crammed into a site that is considerably reduced 

in size. The 2015 Landscape Capacity Assessment made its recommendation on the 

basis of the site also including the area marked in blue in the report.   That has now 

been given over to a new road and roundabout, without any consultation with the 

Parish Council or local residents.  This will add further to the urbanization of this 

sensitive rural location surrounded by the AONB and two conservation areas.  

 The inflated number of retirement dwellings exacerbates other environmental 

and sustainability issues, and highlights the third issue to which Pyrton Parish 

Council has persistently objected: the increase in traffic movements that the 

development will cause.  We understand that Policy H13 of SODC’s emerging Local 

Plan may be amended by the inspector to require that specialized housing for older 

people be “in locations with good access to local transport and local facilities”.   

There is no public transport serving this site, and we question how many elderly or 

infirm residents will walk 1km into Watlington to use the shops and transport services 

there. Instead they will use their vehicles, thereby adding to the traffic and air 

pollution problems in the area.  The parking allocation in the plans indicates that all 

those living in the retirement units are expected to use cars. 

 Our final concern is with lighting, and the impact that the development will 

have on the “dark skies” of the neighbourhood.   Although the officer’s report is less 

than clear on the matter, there seem to be restrictions in place that will limit the 

impact of any exterior lighting, but no account seems to have been taken of the “spill” 

that will emanate from such a high number of separate dwellings. 

 As Pyrton Parish Council has made clear throughout this planning process, 

we welcome an appropriate development of the site, but we believe the current 

proposals overdevelop it and should therefore be modified. There are ample policy 

grounds for doing requiring this.  These include not merely the Pyrton 

Neighbourhood Plan but also SODC’s Policy CSEN 1, which states that priority that 

should be given to preserving the AONB and its setting in line with the duties 

imposed by the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000. 

  

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



PROPERTY & CONSTRUCTION CONSULTANTS  

 

 

 

 

 

  

Ridge is the trading name of Ridge and Partners LLP. A Limited Liability Partnership registered in England No. OC309402 
Registered office: The Cowyards, Blenheim Park, Oxford Road, Woodstock, OX20 1QR. LLP members: Phil Baker,  
Graham Blackburn, Steve Cooper, Murray Farrant, Paul Fong, Matthew Francis, Mark Gordon, Richard Hand, Jason Howard,  

Adrian O’Hickey, Lucy Osborne, Jolyon Price, Mark Richards, Roger Sandell, Richard Thorpe, David Walker, Adrian Westbury.  

 
 

 

3rd Floor 
Regent House 

65 Rodney Road 
Cheltenham 

GL50 1HX 
 

01242 230066 

www.ridge.co.uk 

4th June 2020 

 

planningbusinessenquiries@southandvale.gov.uk 

 

 

 

Dear Councillors,     

 

Planning application: P19/S2380/RM – Steven Orton Antiques Shirburn Road Watlington OX49 5BZ 

Written Statement of Support  

 

This statement of support has been prepared by Ridge and Partners who are the agents dealing with the above 

application on behalf of Beechcroft Developments Ltd.  Thank you for taking the time to read this submission and 

trust you’ll support the strong recommendation by your officers to approve this application.   

 

The officer report is very thorough and covers all key issues pertinent to this application.  We have worked well with 

your officers to achieve a well-conceived development that we believe can be successfully integrated into its 

surroundings from both a design and landscape perspective, and will finally ensure this brownfield site is 

redeveloped in an appropriate manner clearing all the current detritus from the site.  The successful negotiation of 

this application has resulted in no objections being raised by any of the key professional consultees and there have 

been no third-party objections, which is very positive.    This is summarised in the officer’s report, so I won’t repeat 

in this statement.   

 

We would however like to supplement the officer report to address objections that have been raised by Pyrton 

Parish Council that have been made during the course of this application.  We have addressed these previously in a 

letter to the case officer dated 9th November 2019, but given the Parish’s most recent comments, we feel it is 

prudent to address these again.   

 

The key issues for the Pyrton PC relate to the number of units and density of development, building mass and height; 

landscape impact; impact on Shirburn Conservation Area and Historic Park and Garden; and potential light pollution 

that will arise from the development.  These issues will be dealt with in turn.   

 

1. Number of units, density of development, building mass and height.   

The outline planning consent (planning reference P18/S0002/O) was granted 23rd July 2019 for up to 37 

Retirement Units for people aged 55 and over, provision of a Care Home and four staff accommodation units 

(all matters reserved for future consideration with the exception of access).   

 

Pyrton Parish have stated the number of units proposed remains an issue and is a matter that should be 

considered as part of the current Reserved Matters (RM) submission.  The outline consent has established 

the permissible number of units in this case and the density that can be achieved on site.  Therefore, these 

matters are not up for further consideration as the principle of development and the number of units 

proposed has been established.  This RM application mirrors the outline approval in that the same number 

of units proposed at outline are sought. The key considerations in this case, having established the principle 

at outline and agreed access, will be the external appearance of the proposed buildings, their scale, layout 

and associated landscaping.   

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6

mailto:planningbusinessenquiries@southandvale.gov.uk


PROPERTY & CONSTRUCTION CONSULTANTS 
 

 

 

 

 

 

In terms of scale, the Parish have retained concerns over the height of the development.  The development 

including the Care Home comprises a mix of 1.5 and 2 storeys that mirrors the height of the properties 

within the wider locality and do not exceed 2 storeys that was agreed as part of the outline consent.   The 

tallest of the proposed buildings on the site would be around 9.3m in height and accords with the parameters 

set at outline stage and the remaining 85% of the buildings on site are substantially lower than this having 

been reduced in height from the outline planning permission and during the course of negotiating this 

submission.   

 

The introduction of a variety of roof heights across the site helps to break up any perceived bulk and adds 

variety to the scale of buildings proposed. This variation is evident within the design and scale of domestic 

buildings in the adjoining villages, which has helped form the approach taken in this case through the 

contextual analysis that is explained in detail within the submitted Design and Access Statement that 

accompanies the current application and is referenced in the officer report.  This method is advocated in the 

South Oxfordshire Design Guide to ensure the scale of buildings proposed are sensitive to their context.   

 

In essence, careful consideration has been given to the local vernacular of both Pyrton and Watlington to 

gain a full understanding of building heights, key design features that are common within both Py rton and 

Watlington, and the materials that would be appropriate for the construction of the proposed retirement and 

care scheme.   

 

2. Landscape Impact  

The Parish Council consider that the scheme as proposed will contravene the SODCs Landscape Capacity 

Assessment 2015, recent Landscape Character Assessment 2017 and that appropriate account has not 

been taken of the need to minimise the adverse effects of development on the surrounding protected 

landscape that lies to the east of the site.   

 

Efforts to minimise landscape impact have been undertaken as part of the current submission, these include:  

 

• The Roadways have been redesigned and their width has been reduced to allow for more planting 

to help assimilate the proposed development into its surroundings.   

 

• A revised plan has been submitted that includes additional hedgerows to increase legibility. The 

landscape plan has been updated to pick up trees along southern boundary and this is agreed with 

Council’s Tree Officer.  

 

• The housing facing onto the road have active frontages and are appropriately softened with a native 

hedgerow and hedgerow trees. In addition, three large Holm Oaks (which were selected to respond 

to trees in the immediate vicinity) have been actively positioned to allow unrestricted growth and 

for maximum visibility from the approach to Watlington, helping to integrate the proposals into their 

surroundings. 

 

In terms of impact on the AONB, there is some intervisibility between the site and the Chiltern AONB, but 

the views of the site only form very small aspects of the wider panoramas of the area when viewed from 

the Chilterns overall. The majority of the vegetation on site would be retained and reinforced, helping to 

integrate the proposals into their surroundings. Consequently, it is  considered the development can 

successfully be integrated into the site without giving significant landscape and visual impact.   Moreover, 

the current use of the site that has a more substantive impact on the wider landscape will be removed.   

Page 18



PROPERTY & CONSTRUCTION CONSULTANTS 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

It should also be noted, as summarised within the officer’s report, that the wider landscape impact of the 

scheme was considered at outline stage and found to be acceptable.  The landscape considerations 

associated with this application relate to the landscaping within the site that are considered to be acceptable 

by your officers.     

 

3. Heritage Impact  

This matter was considered at outline stage and officers were content that the proposed development would 

not have a negative impact on the Grade II Listed Shirburn Castle Registered Park and Garden and Shirburn 

Conservation area.  Furthermore, no comments have been offered by either Historic England or Garden 

History Society and the Conservation Officer raises no objections.  

 

4. Light Pollution  

It is appreciated that concern has been raised over potential light pollution associated with the development 

from both Pyrton and Watlington Parish Councils.  On this and as noted in the officer report, a condition is 

attached to the outline consent that requires details of the lighting to be submitted and agreed by the 

Council.  In this regard, the lighting associated with the development can be agreed and controlled.  Again, 

as highlighted within the officer report, an initial lighting report has been undertaken that will need to be 

updated in due course, but demonstrates that any lighting on site will be strictly controlled and would consist 

of low level bollard and wall mounted lighting that would be senor activated to minimise intrusion.   

 

I trust this written statement of support is of assistance and suitably addresses, where appropriate, the concerns of 

Pyrton Parish Council and demonstrates, following the approval of outline consent, that the layout, scale, appearance 

and landscaping associated with this RM submission are entirely appropriate for the site and accord with all tiers of 

planning policy.  In this regard, it is respectfully requested that Members support the officer recommendation of 

approval.   

 

Yours sincerely,  

 
Giles Brockbank MRTPI 

Partner 

For Ridge and Partners LLP 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Classification: Internal 

Committee meeting statement on Hartgrove planning application. 
 
Having reviewed the planning officers report in detail, I would like to emphasise the following 3 areas of 
concern for the Planning Committee to consider: 
 

1. Inadequate spacing between properties and cramped development 
 
Policy H4 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP). Criteria: 
(ii) The design, height, scale and materials of the proposed development are in keeping with its 
surroundings. 
 
Outline planning has been granted for the principle of two dwellings. The detail of how the two 
dwellings would appear, their size, design, scale and whether they were to be detached or a pair of 
semi-detached is for consideration in this reserved matter application. 
 

We disagree with the Planning Officers view and opinion that the size, scale and spacing of the 
proposed dwellings are appropriate. 
 

The Planning Officer is correct to state that “there is no uniform distance between properties along this 
extent of Oxford Road”, although fails to note that the gaps proposed are significantly less than those 
present along the entire length of the road. This is the reason that concerns over cramped 
development, not in keeping with the street scene, has been raised. 
 

It should also be noted that the width of the plots on the west side of Ambleside are very similar to the 
Hartgrove plot and 3 bed semi-detached properties are sited here. This serves as a simple and 
appropriate measure of what should be deemed in keeping with the existing spacing of properties. 
 

In terms of a benchmark of scale and spacing, the last two developments Ambleside and Foxgate are 
both smaller in scale than the proposed dwellings. These are 4 bedrooms and 3 bedrooms respectfully. 
It can also be seen that the spacing is considerably wider than proposed. 
 

When I attended the outline planning committee meeting and raised this issue, members of the 
committee expressed support that the proposal appeared overly cramped, but it was stated that this 
would be reviewed at the reserved matters stage. 
 

2. Highway safety. 
 
We are concerned that the highway safety concerns we highlighted during the consultation process 
have not been responded to or addressed.  
 

1. The proposed access to the property is directly alongside Ambleside, this is a safety issue and will 
cause potential collisions during manoeuvring in and out of driveways. Every property down the 
road has a separation space between access points for safety reasons. 

 

2. The existing plot has one access point from Oxford Road but there is no provision for a new access 
point for the second property. Instead it is proposed that Ambleside’s access point is utilised. With 
increased volume of traffic and cars blocking the service road, this will cause access restrictions 
and further potential risk of collision. 

 

3. Impact on neighbour amenity - Policies H4 and D4 of the SOLP 
 
The existing boundary fence between Ambleside and Hartgrove has been in place for many years, is 
very low height and has trellis on top with thick vegetation present in Hartgrove. With a two-story 
property in place this existing boundary will be insufficient in height and will impact on privacy etc. 
 

It is also likely that the vegetation present in Hartgrove will be removed to allow space, which would 
further amplify the issue. 
 

We therefore respectfully request that a replacement fence is provided to an appropriate height, in 
order to ensure a suitable boundary to Ambleside with privacy and overlooking addressed. 

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Our ref: 2020/20f0508                                                                        
 
05 June 2020 
 
FAO SODC Planning Committee  
135 Eastern Ave,  
Milton,  
Abingdon  
OX14 4SB 
 
(sent by email) 
 
    
 
SUBJECT: 69-71 GIDLEY WAY HORSPATH OX33 1RG PROPOSAL: 
DEMOLITION OF AN EXISTING HOUSE AND OUTBUILDINGS AND THE 
ERECTION OF FIVE FLATS AND TWO SEMI-DETACHED HOUSES. 
APPLICATION REFERENCE: P20/S0453/FUL 
 
This application seeks approval to make modest alterations to an extant 
planning permission for 4 flats and 2 houses at the above address (application 
reference: P19/S1871/FUL). This proposal seeks approval to create the same 
residential development with the exception of an additional 1-bedroom flat 
within the roof space of the proposed apartment building. The roof form has 
been altered slightly to accommodate the additional dwelling; however, the 
height and footprint of the apartment building has not changed.   
 
We do not seek to alter the quantity of parking spaces or reduce amenity 
provided on site and we have made no changes to the approved site layout. It 
is important to note, the permitted scheme offered an oversupply of parking by 
Oxford County Council Highway Standards (OCC), as a result, the additional flat 
did not necessitate additional parking and the proposed design will continue to 
comply with OCC policy. Highways have not objected to this proposal.  
 
Policies CSR1 & CSS1 limit new developments in smaller villages to 6 units. 
This application seeks approval for 7 dwellings, however when the demolition 
of the existing house is taken into account, the proposal equates to a net gain 
of 6 dwellings. In policy terms this proposal remains compliant.  
 
This proposal is policy compliant and should be approved for the reasons set 
out above.  
 
Yours sincerely 
 
Ooooooooooooooooooooooooooo 
000000000000000000000000000 
ooooooooooooooooooooooooooo 
 
Laurence Lowe BA (Hons)(Arch) DipArch ARB RIBA  
Director  
On behalf of Anderson Orr Architects Ltd 
 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



SODC Planning Committee 10/06/2020 
 
Application reference: P19/S2814/FUL 
 
Location: 2A Littleworth, Littleworth, OX33 1TR 
 
Proposal: Erection of dwelling with associated access and landscaping works 
(As amended by drawing PA02 Rev C altering access and car port and 
amplified by vehicle tracking plan accompanying email from agent received 20 
November 2019 and level information and CCTV footage received 6 March 2020 
and Drainage Details submitted 26 March 2020 and Addendum Flood Risk 
Assessment information received 4 May 2020). 
 
Wheatley Parish Council request refusal for the following reasons: 
 

1. The difference in ground levels is difficult to see without visiting the site but the proposal 
would place a driver’s eye line, level with the road surface when exiting the site and we (the 
parish council) cannot see how this can be safe when exiting the site onto a blind corner that 
rises up to the drivers left, and rounds a corner onto the railway bridge. The driver will not 
have sufficient vision splays to see the road that is visible let alone the traffic coming around 
the blind corner.  This can be highlighted by an application in 2002 that was refused.  The 
previous refusal reason read as follows; ‘That the proposals are contrary to policies G8 and 
H4 of the adopted South Oxfordshire Local Plan and to advice in the South Oxfordshire 
Design Guide.  Having regard to the limited size of the site and to the difference in levels 
between the road and the site.  The proposals would result in a cramped, awkward and 
unneighbourly form of development. Furthermore, the proposed new driveway would detract 
from the privacy and amenity of the existing dwelling, 2a Littleworth by reason of noise and 
general proximity.’  The previous applicants appealed the council’s decision, but the 
inspector agreed with the council’s decision and dismissed the appeal.  
  

2. The proposal in in an area formerly occupied by the Wheatley railway line and is adjacent to 
the remaining bridge.  When planning applications for the other side of the bridge were 
submitted in 2010 the Countryside Officer commented “The area along the line of the 
former railway land immediately adjacent to the bridge was found to be part of a bat 
feeding area and commuting route during surveys conducted as part of the original planning 
application. A condition was used to secure the installation of a number of bat boxes in the 
trees and the new dwellings and to ensure that the area adjacent to the bridge remained 
undeveloped’  The same must be true regarding the eastern side of the bridge as the bats fly 
through there.  Indeed in the original report 
(http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/dynamic_serve.jsp?ID=1238524939&CODE=C6
B289A630BCA18C0CD970A38319AB9D) suggests that should proposals for the site change 
then retention of the route should be incorporated into the plans.  We see no evidence that 
the effects of the proposals upon this wildlife corridor have been taken into account. 

  
3. Wheatley Neighbourhood Development Plan (post inspection) has a number of visions and 

policies that we believe these proposals are contrary to.  Vision HL1V states that new 
dwellings ‘should be thoughtfully located and designed, and integrated into the village of 
Wheatley to minimise any negative impact on the natural environment’  the proposals do 
not meet with this. 
  

Page 25

Agenda Item 6



4. TT1V, TT103 states that ‘Ensure that new developments do not exacerbate the issues with 
existing traffic black spots, rat runs and movement of HGVs’  these proposals are in conflict 
with this due to the access onto a blind corner. 
  

5. EL2V - The rural habitat and ecological diversity will be protected and enhanced.  This 
destroys the wildlife corridor as outlines above. 
  

For these reasons we request that the application is not approved. 
 

Page 26



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

APPLICATION NO. P19/S2380/RM
APPLICATION TYPE RESERVED MATTERS
REGISTERED 6.8.2019
PARISH PYRTON
WARD MEMBER Anna Badcock
APPLICANT Beechcroft 
SITE Steven Orton Antiques, Shirburn Road, Watlington, 

OX49 5BZ
PROPOSAL Reserved Matters application following Outline 

approval P18/S0002/O for up to 37 retirement 
houses, care home and 4 units of staff 
accommodation at Shirburn Road, to consider 
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale 

AMENDMENTS As amended / clarified by plans and information 
submitted 3 September 2019, 3 April 2020, 1 May 
2020, 6 May 2020 and 13 May 2020.    

OFFICER Emma Bowerman

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
1.1 This application is referred to the Planning Committee as the case officer’s 

recommendation conflicts with the views of Pyrton Parish Council and the proposal is 
a major development.  

1.2 The application site (which is shown on the OS extract attached as Appendix A) is the 
former Ministry of Defence (MoD) site on the corner of the B4009 and Pyrton Lane.  
The site area is around 1.6 hectares.  It is currently a storage and transfer facility but 
has recently been used for crushing materials for use in construction. 

1.3 There are two accesses to the site, from the B4009 and Pyrton Lane. Hedges mark 
the boundaries to both roads.  There is an existing dwelling called ‘The Bungalow’ 
between the application site and the B4009.  This utilises the same access from the 
B4009 as the application site.  

1.4 The land to the north of the site is part of a Grade II Registered Park and Garden 
associated with Shirburn Castle.  There are several Grade II Listed structures within 
the grounds, including a church, icehouse, rotunda and a statue. Shirburn Castle is a 
Grade I Listed Building.  The Castle and grounds are also part of Shirburn 
Conservation Area.  

1.5 To the immediate west of the site is an open field.  Further to the west is the Grade II* 
Listed Pyrton Manor and its grounds.  Pyrton Manor, and much of the village of 
Pyrton, fall within Pyrton Conservation Area.  There are several other listed buildings 
within the village.  

1.6 The land to the east of the site is within the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty (AONB).  The edge of this designated area is the opposite side of the B4009.  
To the south of the site is Watlington recreation ground.   

1.7 The application site is within the parish of Pyrton and Pyrton have a made 
Neighbourhood Plan.  The Pyrton Neighbourhood Plan has a site-specific policy for 
the application site, which is referred to as site PYR1.  This policy supports the 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S2380/RM


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

principle of the redevelopment of the former MoD site for residential development, 
subject to several criteria.  

1.8 The parish of Watlington boarders the south of the site.  Watlington also have a made 
Neighbourhood Plan.  Amongst other matters, the Watlington Neighbourhood Plan 
aims to safeguard land for a re-aligned B4009 to the north and west of the town.  This 
“Edge Road” would alleviate traffic pressure in the centre of Watlington and improve 
air quality.    

1.9 This is a reserved matters application for approval of details of appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale following outline planning permission P18/S0002/O.  
Planning permission for P18/S0002/O granted outline planning permission for up to 37 
retirement units for people aged 55 and over, provision of a care home and four staff 
accommodation units.  Access details were also approved under this application.  

1.10 The Outline planning permission also secured some land to be transferred to 
Oxfordshire County Council.  This land could be used to construct a section of the 
Edge Road, including a roundabout.  This land is outside of the application site and 
does not form part of this application.    

1.11 Several amended plans were submitted during the application process, with final 
amendments submitted on 13 May 2020.  Interested parties were consulted on the 
more significant amendments and had an opportunity to comment on them.  

1.12 The proposed layout plan, street scenes and a selection of plans are attached as 
Appendix B.  The application is accompanied by several supporting documents, 
including a Design and Access Statement.  These are available to view on the 
council’s website at:
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&RE
F=P19/S2380/RM

1.13 For background information, the committee report and minutes, and all information 
associated with outline planning application P18/S0002/O can be found at the 
following link:
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&RE
F=P19/S2380/RM

2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS (please note these 
represent the most recent comments)

2.1 Pyrton Parish Council – Object and raised the following concerns:
- Contrary to Neighbourhood Plan
- Building density, the site feels overcrowded and out of keeping with its location
- Overdeveloped and urban character
- Number of dwellings is excessive and should be reduced
- Contrary to Landscape Capacity Assessment 
- Building numbers was never discussed by SODC’s planning committee and is for 

consideration now as outline permission is ‘up to 37 retirement units’  
- Building mass needs rigorous examination 
- Detrimental impact of light pollution on the “dark skies” of the area

The comments note that the Parish Council welcome the most recent modifications 
involving the significant reduction of buildings heights, particularly of the care home.  

2.2 Shirburn Parish Council – No comments received 

Page 28

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P19/S2380/RM
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P19/S2380/RM
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P19/S2380/RM
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P19/S2380/RM


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

2.3 Watlington Parish Council – No objection and commented that the new layout, 
reduced scale of the care home and the detailed landscaping will allow the 
development to sit better in the surrounding countryside and it will not be so dominant 
when viewed from the AONB. Remain concerned that a detailed lighting scheme has 
not yet been submitted for approval and commented that a biodiversity survey is 
required.

2.4 Historic England – Do not wish to offer any comments 

2.5 The Garden History Society – Do not wish to comment on the proposals.  

2.6 Chilterns Conservation Board – Commented that the details break up the layout and 
provide articulation to the design and recommended the use of clay ties and natural 
slate.  Also made a comment about land that is outside of the application site, which is 
not relevant to this application.  

2.7 Crime Prevention Design Adviser – No objection but raised various matters in 
relation to community safety and crime prevention design.  

2.8 Oxfordshire County Council – No objection subject to conditions.  

2.9 Urban Design Officer – The amendments have resolved all outstanding issues. 

2.10 Landscape Architect – The amended scheme is acceptable in landscape terms 
subject to a condition for a detailed lighting scheme.  

2.11 Conservation Officer – No objection.  Commented that natural roofing materials 
should be used and that light spill, particularly vertical, would be kept to a minimum and 
localised to the site.  

2.12 Countryside Officer- No objection to the amended plans subject to a condition to 
secure a Biodiversity Enhancement Plan.  

2.13 Forestry Officer – No objection subject to landscaping and tree protection conditions.  

2.14 Waste Management Officer – Provided comments on bin stores. 

2.15 Neighbour Representations – None received

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
3.1 P18/S0002/O - Approved (23/07/2019)

Outline application for up to 37 Retirement Units for people aged 55 and over, 
provision of a Care Home and 4 staff accommodation units (all matters reserved for 
future consideration with the exception of access). As clarified by alternative indicative 
layout and additional information accompanying Agents letter dated 18 June 2018.

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
4.1 The proposal is beneath the thresholds set in Schedule 2 of the Town and Country 

Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011 (as amended).  This 
is because the proposal does not exceed 150 homes, the site area is under 5ha and 
is not within a ‘sensitive area’.  It is therefore not EIA development.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

Updated in June 2019 and the associated NPPF Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)

Page 29

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S0002/O


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

5.2 Adopted South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) 2027
CSEN1  -  Landscape protection
CSEN3  -  Historic environment
CSQ3  -  Design
CSQ4  -  Design briefs for greenfield neighbourhoods and major development sites
CSB1  -  Conservation and improvement of biodiversity
CSG1   -  Green infrastructure

5.3 Adopted South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) 2011 saved policies
C4  -  Landscape setting of settlements
C6  -  Maintain & enhance biodiversity
C9  -  Loss of landscape features
CON5  -  Setting of listed building
CON7  -  Proposals in a conservation area
D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D6  -  Community safety
D10  -  Waste Management
EP3  -  Adverse affect by external lighting
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
R6  -  Public open space in new residential development
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users

5.4 Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2034
The Council is preparing a new Local Plan, which will set out how development will be
planned and delivered across South Oxfordshire to 2034.  The Emerging Plan is at 
examination and has only limited weight.   

5.5 Pyrton Neighbourhood Plan (PNP)
Pyrton have a made Neighbourhood Plan which forms part of the council’s 
Development Plan.  The policies in the PNP can therefore be attributed full weight.  

The key policies in the PNP are:
BNE1: Historic Environment 
BNE2: Landscape character 
H1: New Homes 
H2: Type of new homes 
D1: Detailed design criteria
SA1: Former MoD site (PYR1) 

5.6 South Oxfordshire Design Guide (SODG) 2016
This guide sets out the standard that we expect developments to meet through a series 
of checklists that relate to key design principles.  

5.7 Other legislation and guidance
- Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas Act) 1990
- Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000
- Landscape Capacity Assessment for Larger Villages (2015)
- The Chilterns AONB Management Plan 
- Position Statement: Development Affecting the setting of the Chilterns AONB

Page 30



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The principle of up to 37 retirement units for people aged 55 and over, a care home and 

four staff units is already established.  The details of the access are also already 
approved.  As such, the only matters to be considered for this reserved matters 
application relate to the details of the development in terms of:

- Layout
- Scale
- Appearance 
- Landscaping 

  
6.2 The site-specific policy for the development of this site contained within Pyrton 

Neighbourhood Plan (PNP) also has an element that relates to matters of layout, scale, 
appearance and landscaping.  Policy SA1 of the PNP sets out the criteria to be 
considered for the redevelopment of the application site for residential development 
and this includes a requirement that a:

Design and Access Statement as required by SODC’s adopted validation
checklist, should be prepared and submitted as part of any application. In
addition to the statutory expectations for a Design and Access Statement, the
statement should:

i. Draw on relevant precedents and demonstrate how and why they are
related to the proposed development, and how these have influenced 
the proposal in formulating an appropriate scheme;

ii. Include sufficient drawings, photomontages, viewpoints and illustrations
to allow a realistic appreciation of the proposal;

iii. Explain how and why the building types, scale, appearance and 
materials have been selected and are appropriate for the environment;

iv. Demonstrate how the proposed development responds to on-site and
surrounding heritage, landscape and environmental opportunities / 
constraints / designations. In particular, proposals should demonstrate 
how management of the existing boundary vegetation would maintain 
the visual containment of the site and lighting management would 
reduce light pollution from the site.

v. Demonstrate a prospective net gain in biodiversity on the site through
appropriate ecological surveys.

6.3 In relation to these requirements, the application is accompanied by a detailed Design 
and Access Statement and an addendum was submitted with the amended plans.  The 
addendum documents how the scheme has evolved through the design process.  

6.4 The Design and Access statement explains how the design process has taken account 
of the constraints and opportunities of the site.  It also indicates how the design, 
materials and detailing of the proposed buildings are a direct response to a study of 
local buildings.  The application is also accompanied by several visualisations and 
these provide a realistic impression of the proposed buildings.  

6.5 In relation to the other criteria, the council’s landscape officer is satisfied that the 
landscape strategy strikes a good balance between containing the site but not hiding it 
behind landscaping.  The council’s countryside officer is satisfied that the amended 
proposals are consistent with biodiversity policies.  

Page 31



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

6.6 The only element of i. to v. above which has not been addressed by the submission is 
in relation to lighting.  A Lighting Impact Assessment was submitted during the 
application process, but this has not been updated to reflect the amended plans.  

6.7 This, however, is not a matter that needs to be approved through this reserved matters 
submission as condition 11 of outline planning permission (P18/S0002/O) requires the 
submission and approval of a lighting scheme.  As such, the council can consider and 
assess this matter through a request to discharge this condition. 

6.8 I note that the submitted Lighting Impact Assessment did appropriately assess the site 
as being within Environmental Zone E1.  This is because the environment is 
‘intrinsically dark’ and the site adjoins an AONB.  

6.9 The lighting strategy outlined in this assessment included illuminated bollards, which 
would work on a solar timeclock from dusk to 23:00 and be sensor activated from 23:00 
to dawn.  The only other type of external lighting would be wall mounted luminaires, 
which would be sensor activated from dusk to dawn.  

6.10 I am satisfied that this lighting strategy would effectively minimise the impact of lighting 
on this sensitive rural edge and would conserve the special qualities of the surrounding 
heritage assets.  In terms of procedure, the lighting plans need to be updated to reflect 
the amended plans and this needs to be submitted for approval through a request to 
discharge condition 11 of the outline planning permission.  

6.11

Layout

The proposed layout has evolved during the application process.  The initial layout is 
shown below:

Note that only the land within the red line forms part of the application site.  The land 
within the blue line is outside of the application site and does not form part of this 
application.  

Page 32



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

6.12 This initial layout was not acceptable as the site was dominated by hard surfacing and 
there was limited space to incorporate sufficient landscaping.  The apartments to the 
north-eastern side of the site did not achieve a suitable separation to the site boundary, 
which left an area that was too small to provide any meaningful open space.  The 
initially layout also failed to provide a focal point as you enter the site.  

6.13 The applicant has worked to address the issues raised by the council’s urban design 
officer and landscape officer.  I am satisfied that the amended layout, shown below for 
comparison, is acceptable.

6.14 The positive elements that the amended plans have incorporated are that the parking 
areas have been broken up and the use of different surface materials would provide 
some variation across the road surface.  The amended layout allows space for more 
landscaping within the site and around the site boundaries, and a usable area of public 
open space has provided.  The layout also now incorporates a strong corner building at 
the end of the access.  

6.15 The development would be outward looking, which accords with SODC’s Design Guide.  
The layout includes a mix of parking solutions including shared courtyards and off-
street parking.  There is space within the site to provide landscaping to soften the 
development and the amount of open space would be appropriate.  In my opinion, the 
amended plans demonstrate that the site can accommodate the level of development 
proposed.   

6.16

Scale 

Criteria 2.a of Policy D1 of the PNP requires development to predominantly have a 
maximum of two-storeys.  The initial layout included accommodation in the roof of the 
care home and as such, could have been classed as two-and-a-half-storeys.  The 

Page 33



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

amended plans have removed the roof accommodation and I am satisfied that all 
elements of the development are either two or one-and-a-half-storeys.   

6.17 The Design and Assess Statement submitted with the outline planning application 
stated that the development would have a maximum height of 10m.  The tallest of the 
proposed buildings on the site would be around 9.3m in height and would fit 
comfortably within the parameters set at outline stage.  

6.18 The details that were submitted with the outline planning application depicted a 
development that had a low-key courtyard feel, which was not reflected in the initial 
reserved matters submission.  The initial plans that were submitted were more 
substantial in terms of their scale and bulk and would have had an urbanising impact on 
the site.  The applicant reduced the overall scale and bulk of the proposals during the 
application process, as reflected in the drawings below:

6.19

The red dotted line shows the height and additional bulk of the development as initially 
submitted.  

6.20 In my opinion, the reduced scale of the proposal is more appropriate to the character of 
the site and surroundings.   The reduction in the overall massing of the proposed care 
home has also had the added benefit of removing an unsightly flat roof element from 
this aspect of the development.  

6.21

Appearance

Both Pyrton and Watlington contain a variety of architectural styles but are generally 
very traditional in terms of character.  As outlined in the Design and Access Statement, 
the design, materials and detailing of the proposed buildings are a direct response to a 
study of the locality of Pyrton and Watlington

6.22 Criterion 2.b of policy D1 of the PNP requires developments to incorporate designs that 
are generally influenced by the Chiltern vernacular architectural style featuring brick, 
flint and tiles.  In their consultation response to this application, the Chilterns 
Conservation Board (CCB) have commented that ‘The mix of materials appears 
appropriate and combines predominantly tiles and some slate.’ 

6.23 The architectural language that has been used in the proposal reflects the character of 
the wider area and the traditional Chilterns vernacular has informed the design process.  

Page 34



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

A variety of ridge and eaves levels would create a varied roofscape and in my opinion, 
the architectural details would create some attractive spaces across the scheme.

6.24 The application documents do not provide exact details of the proposed materials and 
so I have recommended a condition requiring these to be provided before development 
commences.  Given the sensitivity of the site, the materials should be of a high quality.  
As recommended by the CCB, clay tiles and natural slate should be used to ensure a 
softer hue and texture, which will soften the appearance when viewed from the AONB 
and in distant views.  

6.25

Landscaping 

This Reserved Matters application only considers the details of the landscaping scheme 
within the site and whether this is sufficient to help assimilate the development into its 
surroundings.  The overall landscape impact of this quantum of development was 
considered under the outline planning application.   

6.26 The report presented to Planning Committee for the outline application highlighted that 
the scale and extent of the development would exceed the recommendations in the 
Landscape Capacity Study and that the resulting increase in built development would 
have an adverse impact on the setting of the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONB). 

6.27 This harm to the AONB was considered to weigh against the development and was a 
matter that was examined in the planning balance.  Overall, it was considered that the 
significant benefits of the development would outweigh the harm that would be caused 
to the landscape.

6.28 In terms of the landscaping details that have been submitted for this reserved matters 
application, the council’s landscape officer has commented that the amendments have 
taken into account her previous concerns about the interrelationship of the built form to 
the possible future roundabout.  She has also confirmed that the domestic scale 
planting details are acceptable.  

6.29 The council’s landscape officer reiterated the need for a detailed lighting scheme, to 
minimise the impact of lighting on this sensitive rural edge.  As indicated above, this 
matter must be addressed as a requirement of condition 11 of the outline planning 
permission.  

6.30 Based on the details that have been provided in the Lighting Impact Assessment, I am 
satisfied that a lighting scheme can be secured which would accord with criteria 2.e. of 
PNP policy D1.  This requires proposals to take into account the importance of dark 
night skies, for lighting to be deflected downwards, to be switched off at midnight at the 
latest, and to use movement sensitive triggers.  

6.31

Other matters 

In relation to criteria 2.d of PNP policy D1, which requires the observance of lifetime 
homes standards, the proposed retirement homes are generously proportioned for two 
bed homes to allow ease of movement.  

6.32 The application documents explain that access for the disabled will be accommodated 
in the design of the dwellings sufficient to comply with ‘Access to and Use of Buildings’, 
Part M of the Building Regulations.  All residential units will have level access for 

Page 35



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

wheelchair disabled persons to the ground floor and accessible ground floor WC’s as 
required by the Building Regulations. Lifts will be provided to all first-floor apartments.

6.33 And in relation to criteria 2.c (the last remaining criteria under part 2 of PNP policy D1), 
the submitted Design and Access Statement includes a section on sustainability.  This 
outlines the energy efficiency measures that would be utilised in the development and 
states that, where possible, materials utilised in the construction of the development will 
be locally sourced.   

6.34 In relation to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL), as specified at outline stage, the 
majority of this development has a nil CIL rate.  The four staff units would be CIL liable 
at a rate of £150 per sq.m (index linked from 2016 and currently £182.18 per sq.m).

6.35 The CIL money collected from the development can be pooled with contributions from 
other development sites to fund a wide range of infrastructure to support growth, 
including schools, transport, community, leisure and health facilities.  Under the CIL 
regulations, Pyrton Parish Council will receive 25% of the CIL monies (as oppose to 
15% if they did not have a Neighbourhood Plan).  

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The principle of the development has already been established through the grant of 

outline planning permission.  The access arrangements have also been approved 
under the outline consent.  The only matters to be considered under this application 
relate to the details of the development in terms of appearance, landscaping, layout 
and scale.  

7.2 When the outline planning application was considered by committee members it was 
made clear that this is a very sensitive site, on the edge of the AONB and next to 
several important heritage assets.  Given the sensitivities of the site, committee 
members stressed the need for the details of this development to be high quality and 
the scale, mass and bulk appropriate to its setting.  

7.3 In my opinion the proposals would ensure high standards and quality of design, having 
regard to the site, site constraints and the surrounding area.  Part 1 of policy D1 of the 
PNP requires that development proposals ensure high standards and quality of design, 
having regard to the site, site constraints and surrounding area, including, where 
relevant, the Conservation Area. I consider that the proposal accords with this policy 
and the other relevant Development Plan policies in relation to design, character 
heritage and landscape impact.   

7.4 I recommend that reserved matters approval is granted as the layout, scale, 
appearance and landscaping of the development are acceptable and the proposal 
complies with the relevant Development Plan policies.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 That reserved matters approval for P19/S2380/RM be granted subject to the 

following conditions:

1. Development in accordance with approved plans
2. Schedule of materials to be submitted for approval
3. Landscape to be implemented prior to first occupation 
4. Biodiversity Enhancement Plan
5. Details of estate road and footpaths 
6. Provision and retention of parking

Page 36



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

Author: Emma Bowerman
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email: planning@southoxon.gov.uk

 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 39

Agenda Item 7P19/S2380/RM

SAV_EMMBOW
Typewriter
Appendix A 



P
age 40

SAV_EMMBOW_1
Typewriter
Appendix B



F

u

t

u

r

e

 

L

i

n

k

 

R

o

a

d

A

 

p

 

p

 

r

 

o

 

x

 

 

 

L

 

i

 

n

 

e

 

 

o

 

f

 

 

 

P

 

r

 

o

 

p

 

o

 

s

 

e

 

d

Ac

Qr

Ac

Qr

Ac

Ac

Qr

Cm

Ac

Pap

Tc

Tc

Ca

Tc

Ca

Ca

Ca

Ca

Ca

Ac

Ac

Cs

Cm

Cm

Ac

Bp

Ac

Bp

Ac

Bp

Cm

Pap

Qr

Ca

Ca

Cb

Mk

Cb

Cb

Al

Al

Tc

Tc

Cf

Ac

Cf

Cf

Cf

Cf

Al

Ca

Cb

Ac

Qr

Ca

Qr

Qr

Qr

Qr

Mr

Cb

Al

Cb

Ac

Tc

Tc

Tc

Al

Al

Ac

Cm

Ac

Al

Ca

Ca

Ca

Tc

Tc

St

Cm

Cm

St

Mk

Mk

Mk

Cf

Cf

Cf

Mr

St

Al

Tc

Mk

Al

Al

Al

Al

Al

Cb

Cb

Mr

Tc

Informal Open Space:

Including pockets of

ornamental planting

selected for wildlife/pollinators

Proposed

native

hedgerow

Existing Hedgerow

(unsurveyed)

Notable

Hedgerow

(unsurveyed)

Provision for

future access

Native Tree Planting

Proposed native hedge

with native tree planting

Large species trees where

space along northern side

of entrance road with shade

tolerant meadow mix below

Proposed shade tolerant

groundcover mix

Mr

Tc

Timber

Knee

Rail

35000 SQ FT Care Home

Driveway to existing
dwelling retained

UA

P35-38 (Apartments)

UA

UA

UA

UA

UA
UA

UA

UA
UA

UA
UA

POS

P39-41

UA

UA

P25-26

P5-10 (Apartments)

P11-12

P13-18 (Apartments)

P33-34

P27-28

P19-24 (Apartments)

P31-32

P29-30

UA

UA

UA

UA

UA

UA

UA

UA

UA

P1-4 (Apartments)

Frontage:

Proposed mixed native

hedgerow with varying

height native trees :

Silver Birch retained

subject to localised crown

reduction works to

aboricultural approval.

Highways Land:

5m strip to be used for

maintenance & landscaping

Frontage:

Proposed mixed native

hedgerow with varying

height native trees :

Frontage:

Proposed mixed native

hedgerow with native

structure planting

wildflower meadow

edging strip.

Existing Trees Retained

(RPAs indicated in dotted line)

Legend

Amenity Grass

Site Boundary

Proposed Native Hedge Planting (new hedge/infill areas)

(5 plants per linear metre, double staggered row 300mm apart)

15% Acer campestre 100-125cm (1+1) BR

20% Corylus avellana 100-125cm (1+1) BR

35% Crataegus monogyna 100-125cm (1+1) BR

20% Ilex aquifolium 60-80cm 3L

10% Prunus spinosa 60-90cm (1+1) BR

Proposed Beech Hedge Planting

(5 plants per linear metre, double staggered row 300mm apart)

Fagus sylvatica 100-125cm (1+1) BR

Proposed Native Structure Planting

1 plant per 1.5m² planted in random groups of 5-10 per species

15% Acer campestre 100-125cm BR 1+2 3brks

15% Corylus avellana 100-125cm BR 1+2 3brks

10% Crataegus monogyna 100-125cm BR 1+2 3brks

15% Ilex aquilifolium 60-80cm 3L Leader/Laterals

10% Malus sylvestris 100-125cm BR 1+2 3brks

15% Prunus avium 100-125cm BR 1+1 2brks

10% Quercus robur 100-125cm BR 1+2 3brks

10%  Viburnum opulus 100-125cm BR 1+2 3brks

Proposed Tree Planting

Species Girth Ht Form Spec 

Amelanchier lamarckii (Al) 3-3.5M min MS RB/DS

Acer campestre Streetwise(Ac) 16-18cm 450cm min. 2m cs RB/DS

Carpinus betulus (Cb) 16-18cm 450cm min Feather RB/DS

Castanea sativa (CS) 16-18cm 450cm min 2m cs RB/DS

Catalpa bignonoides (Cbg) 18-20cm 450cm mn 2m cs RB/DS

Cornus florida (Cf) 150-200cm Standard 12L

Corylus avellana (Ca) 16-18cm 350cm min 2m cs RB/Ds

Crataegus monogyna (Cm) 16-18cm 450cm min 2m cs RB/DS

Magnolia kobus (Mk) 16-18cm 450cm min 2m cs RB/DS

Malus Red Sentinel  (Mr) 16-18cm 350cm min 2m Pollard RB/DS

Prunus avium 'Plena'(Pa) 18-20cm 450cm min 2m cs RB/DS

Quercus robur (Qr) 18-20cm 450cm min 2m cs RB/DS

Sorbus thibetica 'John Mitchell'(St) 16-18cm 450cm min 2m cs RB/DS

Tilia cordata (Tc) 18-20cm 450cm min 2m cs RB/DS

Shade Tolerant Ground Covers

(planted in equal percentages in groups of

5-9 plants of the same species)

Ajuga reptans 1.5Lt pot  4/m² 

Anemone nemorosa 1.5Lt pot  4/m²

Campanula rotundifolia 1.5Lt pot  4/m²

Galium odoratum 1.5Lt pot  4/m²

Hedera helix    2.0Lt pot  4/m²

Polystichum aculeatum AGM 1.5Lt pot  4/m²

Polystichum setiferum 'Herrenhausen'   1.5Lt pot        4/m²

Vinca minor f. alba 'Gertrude Jekyll' 1.5Lt pot  4/m²

Polypodium vulgare 1.5Lt pot  4/m²

Notes:

Low Evergreen Shrub Hedges

(Species selected from Envy Garden Design List below)

Proposed Specimen Shrubs, Ornamental Shrubs, Groundcover &

Herbaceous Planting Areas

Plant list below provided by Envy Garden Design, who will undertake detail plant placement

for residential areas utilising the following shrubs at minumum specification as below;

Species      Size   Spec         Density

Amelanchier lamarckii 80-100cm 10-12L /

Magnolia Susan 40-60cm 10-12L /

Viburnum opulus 40-60cm 10-12L /

Viburnum x bodnantense 'Dawn' 80-100cm 10-12L /

Berberis thunbergii 'Atropurpurea Nana' 30-40cm 3L 3/m²

Buddleja 'Royal Red' 40-60cm 3L 2/m²

Ceratostigma plumbaginoides 20-30cm 2L 5/m²

Choisya ternata Sundance 40-60cm 10L 3/m²

Cistus x argenteus 'Silver Pink' 40-60cm 10L 3/m²

Clematis viticella 'Betty Corning' 60-80cm 2L item

Cornus alba 'Aurea' 60-80cm 3L 2/m²

Cornus sanguinea 'Midwinter Fire' 60-80cm 3L 2/m²

Escallonia 'Apple Blossom' 40-60cm 3L 3/m²

Hebe pinguifolia sutherland 30-40cm 5L 4/m²

Hydrangea arborescens 'Annabelle' 40-60cm 3L 2/m²

Jasminum officinalis 60-80cm 2L item

Lavandula angustifolia 20-30cm 3L 4/m²

Leycesteria formosa Purple Rain 40-60cm 3L 2/m²

Lonicera periclymenum 'Serotina' 80-100cm 3L item

Osmanthus burkwoodii 40-60cm 5L 3/m²

Perovskia atriplicifolia 'Blue Spire' 3L 4/m²

Philadelphus 'Belle Etoile' 30-40cm 3L 2/m²

Phormium Pink Stripe 10L item

Pittosporum 'Golf Ball' 30-40cm 5L 4/m²

Potentilla 'Lovely Pink' 40-60cm 5L 4/m²

Rosa 'Gertrude Jekyll' 10L 2/m²

Rosmarinus officinalis 30-40cm 3L 4/m²

Santolina 'Primrose Gem' 30-40cm 3L 4/m²

Spiraea 'Anthony Waterer' 30-40cm 3L 4/m²

Trachelospermum jasminoides 80-100cm 3L item

Viburnum davidii 30-40cm 5L 4/m²

Acanthus mollis 2L 5/m²

Alchemilla mollis 2L 5/m²

Anemone x hybrida 'Honorine Jobert' 2L 2/m²

Bergenia Overture 2L 5/m²

Brunnera macrophylla Jack Frost 2L 5/m²

Cirsium rivulare atropurpurea 2L 5/m²

Dicentra spectablis 2L 5/m²

Erigeron karvinskianus 2L 5/m²

Geranium maculatum 'Chatto' 2L 5/m²

Geum 'Princess Juliana' 2L 5/m²

Hemerocallis 'Stella d'Oro 2L 5/m²

Heuchera Midnight Rose 2L 5/m²

Iris germanica 'Jane Philips' 2L 5/m²

Liriope muscari 2L 5/m²

Nepeta Six Hills Giant 2L 5/m²

Penstemon Burgundy 2L 5/m²

Persicaria affinis 'Darjeeling Red' 2L 5/m²

Stachys byzantina 'Big Ears' 2L 5/m²

Verbena bonariensis 2L 5/m²

Dryopteris affinis 'Cristata The King' 2L 5/m²

Polystichum setiferum 2L 4/m²

Carex Everillo 2L 5/m²

Deschampsia cespitosa 2L 5/m²

Miscanthus sinensis 'Morning Light' 2L 2/m²

Pennisetum alopecuroides 2L 5/m²

Wildflower Meadow Mixes

Standard General Purpose Meadow Mix EM2 for open areas

Woodland Mixture EW1 for shady areas. All by Emorsgate Seeds or sim/app.

1.8m Hardwood Timber Benches

 Branson Poplar (Client Selection) or sim/approved

Notes:

DS = Double Staked /  BR = Bare Root / RB = Rootballed

· Works beneath existing trees to be in accordance with Aborist's recommendations.

· Tree planting within 5m of buildings/underground services to be installed with root barriers

   in accordance with Aborist's & Engineer's recommendations.

· Plant list provided by Envy Garden Design. Detail design for private residential areas to be

undertaken by Envy Garden Design.

· Planting areas to receive 300mm topsoil (BS:3882 2015) & 75mm Amenity Bark Mulch

   (Melcourt or sim/app) over 300mm ripped non contaminated subsoil.

· Native hedging & woodland planting to be protected with bio-degradeable spiral guards.

· Native hedge plants to be pit planted in holes large enough to receive full depth/spread of

   roots. Backfilled/firmed with root collar at ground level.Cultivate 700mm wide strip,250mm

   deep for planting except beneath canopies of existing trees.

· Grassed areas:100mm topsoil to BS:3882 over 300mm ripped non contaminated subsoil.

· All levels, drainage & service details as per Architect's/Engineer's drawings

· All planting areas and site compound areas to be tested to ensure non contamination before

ripping/topsoil placement.

Drawing Created 20/03/2020

Project: Title: Revisions:

20/03/20
17-59-PL-240

Drawing no:

B

Rev:

1:500 @ A1Scale:

Date:

Planning

Status:

JBG

Checked by:

JS

Drawn by:

Shirburn Road, Watlington Landscape Structure Proposals

Rev /:

1 Agincourt Square, Monmouth, NP25 3BT

T:  +44(0)1600 772251

0 25 50

Rev A: (02/04/2020) Timber Knee Rail to POS

Rev B: (12/05/2020) Parking Layout AdjustedP
age 41

AutoCAD SHX Text
therichardspartnershiprichardspartnershippartnership



Front Elevation
0m 5m 10m

Rear Elevation

Section A_A

Side Elevation

Side Elevation

A 23.03.20 Updated
B 02.04.20 Updated

PLANNING

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date: Drawn By

Drawing No: Revision:

@ A1

A R C H I T E C T S

The White Barn, Manor Farm, Manor Road
Wantage, Oxfordshire, OX12 8NE

T: 01235 765322 F: 01235 765373

The Mansion House, Hartham Park, Corsham,
Wiltshire, SN13 0RP

T: 01249 700489 F: 01249 470077

info@bhpharwood.co.uk - www.bhpharwood.co.uk

REVISIONS

NOTES:
DIMENSIONS ARE NOT TO BE SCALED FROM THIS DRAWING

ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE CHECKED AGAINST ACTUAL SITE
DIMENSIONS BEFORE ANY WORK IS FABRICATED

COPYRIGHT RESERVED
THIS DRAWING IS THE PROPERTY OF BHP HARWOOD

ARCHITECTS AND MAY NOT BE COPIED, REPRODUCED LENT OR
DISCLOSED WITHOUT THEIR EXPRESS PERMISSION IN WRITING.

Rev. Date Description

Checked

Pyrton Lane,
Watlington

Client :

Beechcroft
Developments Ltd.

Job :

Plots 1-12 
Elevations

1:100

MAR 20 SR/RN RN

3509.P.201 B

P
age 42



Roof Plan

0m 5m 10m

B

B
D

AA

C C
Front Elevation (Elevation A_A)

Side Elevation (Elevation D_D)

Rear Elevation (Elevation C_C)

Side Elevation (Elevation B_B) Side Elevation (Elevation B_B)

PLANNING

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date: Drawn By

Drawing No: Revision:

@ A1

A R C H I T E C T S

The White Barn, Manor Farm, Manor Road
Wantage, Oxfordshire, OX12 8NE

T: 01235 765322 F: 01235 765373

The Mansion House, Hartham Park, Corsham,
Wiltshire, SN13 0RP

T: 01249 700489 F: 01249 470077

info@bhpharwood.co.uk - www.bhpharwood.co.uk

REVISIONS

NOTES:
DIMENSIONS ARE NOT TO BE SCALED FROM THIS DRAWING

ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE CHECKED AGAINST ACTUAL SITE
DIMENSIONS BEFORE ANY WORK IS FABRICATED

COPYRIGHT RESERVED
THIS DRAWING IS THE PROPERTY OF BHP HARWOOD

ARCHITECTS AND MAY NOT BE COPIED, REPRODUCED LENT OR
DISCLOSED WITHOUT THEIR EXPRESS PERMISSION IN WRITING.

Rev. Date Description

Checked

Pyrton Lane,
Watlington

Client :

Beechcroft
Developments Ltd.

Job :

Plots 13-18 
Roof Plan
And Elevations

1:100

MAR 20 SR/RN RN

3509.P.203 A

A 23.03.20 Updated

P
age 43



Roof Plan

0m 5m 10m B

B

D

D

AA

C C

Front Elevation (Elevation A_A)

Side Elevation (Elevation D_D)

Rear Elevation (Elevation C_C)

Side Elevation (Elevation B_B)

PLANNING

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date: Drawn By

Drawing No: Revision:

@ A1

A R C H I T E C T S

The White Barn, Manor Farm, Manor Road
Wantage, Oxfordshire, OX12 8NE

T: 01235 765322 F: 01235 765373

The Mansion House, Hartham Park, Corsham,
Wiltshire, SN13 0RP

T: 01249 700489 F: 01249 470077

info@bhpharwood.co.uk - www.bhpharwood.co.uk

REVISIONS

NOTES:
DIMENSIONS ARE NOT TO BE SCALED FROM THIS DRAWING

ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE CHECKED AGAINST ACTUAL SITE
DIMENSIONS BEFORE ANY WORK IS FABRICATED

COPYRIGHT RESERVED
THIS DRAWING IS THE PROPERTY OF BHP HARWOOD

ARCHITECTS AND MAY NOT BE COPIED, REPRODUCED LENT OR
DISCLOSED WITHOUT THEIR EXPRESS PERMISSION IN WRITING.

Rev. Date Description

Checked

Pyrton Lane,
Watlington

Client :

Beechcroft
Developments Ltd.

Job :

Plots 19-24
Roof Plan
and Elevations

1:100

MAR 20 SR/RN RN

3509.P.205 A

A 23.03.20 Updated

P
age 44



0m 5m 10m
Ground Floor Plan

First Floor Plan

C

Hall

WC

Kitchen

Living Room

Dining

C

Garden Room

Hall

WC

Kitchen

Living Room

Dining

Garden Room

Landing

Bath

W

WEns C

Master Bed

Bed 2

Terrace

Study

Landing

Bath

W

W EnsC

Master Bed

Bed 2

Terrace

Study

Roof Plan

P25&27 P26&28

Front Elevation Side Elevation

Rear Elevation Side Elevation

Front Elevation

PLANNING

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date: Drawn By

Drawing No: Revision:

@ A1

A R C H I T E C T S

The White Barn, Manor Farm, Manor Road
Wantage, Oxfordshire, OX12 8NE

T: 01235 765322 F: 01235 765373

The Mansion House, Hartham Park, Corsham,
Wiltshire, SN13 0RP

T: 01249 700489 F: 01249 470077

info@bhpharwood.co.uk - www.bhpharwood.co.uk

REVISIONS

NOTES:
DIMENSIONS ARE NOT TO BE SCALED FROM THIS DRAWING

ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE CHECKED AGAINST ACTUAL SITE
DIMENSIONS BEFORE ANY WORK IS FABRICATED

COPYRIGHT RESERVED
THIS DRAWING IS THE PROPERTY OF BHP HARWOOD

ARCHITECTS AND MAY NOT BE COPIED, REPRODUCED LENT OR
DISCLOSED WITHOUT THEIR EXPRESS PERMISSION IN WRITING.

Rev. Date Description

Checked

Pyrton Lane,
Watlington

Client :

Beechcroft
Developments Ltd.

Job :

Plots 25-28 
Floor Plans
and Elevations

1:100

MAR 20 SR/RN RN

3509.P.207 A

A 23.03.20 Updated

P
age 45



1
2
0
0
 
x
 
8
0
0

s
h
o
w

e
r

0m 5m 10m

Ground Floor Plan

First Floor Plan

Roof Plan

1
2
0
0
 
x
 
8
0
0

s
h
o
w

e
r

P29&31P30&32

C

Hall

WC

Kitchen

Living Room

Dining

Garden Room

C

Hall

WC

Kitchen

Living Room

Dining

Garden Room

Landing

Bath

W

Ens

C

Master Bed

Bed 2

Terrace

W

Landing

Bath

W

Ens

C

Master Bed

Bed 2

Terrace

W

Front Elevation Side Elevation

Rear ElevationSide Elevation

PLANNING

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date: Drawn By

Drawing No: Revision:

@ A1

A R C H I T E C T S

The White Barn, Manor Farm, Manor Road
Wantage, Oxfordshire, OX12 8NE

T: 01235 765322 F: 01235 765373

The Mansion House, Hartham Park, Corsham,
Wiltshire, SN13 0RP

T: 01249 700489 F: 01249 470077

info@bhpharwood.co.uk - www.bhpharwood.co.uk

REVISIONS

NOTES:
DIMENSIONS ARE NOT TO BE SCALED FROM THIS DRAWING

ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE CHECKED AGAINST ACTUAL SITE
DIMENSIONS BEFORE ANY WORK IS FABRICATED

COPYRIGHT RESERVED
THIS DRAWING IS THE PROPERTY OF BHP HARWOOD

ARCHITECTS AND MAY NOT BE COPIED, REPRODUCED LENT OR
DISCLOSED WITHOUT THEIR EXPRESS PERMISSION IN WRITING.

Rev. Date Description

Checked

Pyrton Lane,
Watlington

Client :

Beechcroft
Developments Ltd.

Job :

Plots 29-32
Floor Plans
and Elevations

1:100

MAR 20 SR/RN RN

3509.P.208 B

A 23.03.20 Updated
B 27.03.20 Updated

P
age 46



Plots 4-5

0m 5m 10m

Ground Floor Plan

First Floor Plan

Roof Plan

C

P33

Hall

WC

Kitchen

Living Room

Dining

C

Garden Room

Hall

WC

Kitchen

Living Room

Dining

Garden Room

Landing

Bath

W

WEns C

Master Bed

Bed 2

Terrace

Study

Landing

Bath

W

W EnsC

Master Bed

Bed 2

Terrace

Study

P34

Front Elevation Side Elevation

Rear Elevation Side Elevation

PLANNING

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date: Drawn By

Drawing No: Revision:

@ A1

A R C H I T E C T S

The White Barn, Manor Farm, Manor Road
Wantage, Oxfordshire, OX12 8NE

T: 01235 765322 F: 01235 765373

The Mansion House, Hartham Park, Corsham,
Wiltshire, SN13 0RP

T: 01249 700489 F: 01249 470077

info@bhpharwood.co.uk - www.bhpharwood.co.uk

REVISIONS

NOTES:
DIMENSIONS ARE NOT TO BE SCALED FROM THIS DRAWING

ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE CHECKED AGAINST ACTUAL SITE
DIMENSIONS BEFORE ANY WORK IS FABRICATED

COPYRIGHT RESERVED
THIS DRAWING IS THE PROPERTY OF BHP HARWOOD

ARCHITECTS AND MAY NOT BE COPIED, REPRODUCED LENT OR
DISCLOSED WITHOUT THEIR EXPRESS PERMISSION IN WRITING.

Rev. Date Description

Checked

Pyrton Lane,
Watlington

Client :

Beechcroft
Developments Ltd.

Job :

Plots 33-34
Floor Plans
and Elevations

1:100

MAR 20 SR/RN RN

3509.P.209 B

A 23.03.20 Updated
B 27.03.20 Updated

P
age 47



Front Elevation (A_A Shown Developed)

0m 5m 10m

Side Elevation (B_B)

Rear Elevation (C_C Shown Developed)

Side Elevation (D_D Shown Developed)

PLANNING

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date: Drawn By

Drawing No: Revision:

@ A1

A R C H I T E C T S

The White Barn, Manor Farm, Manor Road
Wantage, Oxfordshire, OX12 8NE

T: 01235 765322 F: 01235 765373

The Mansion House, Hartham Park, Corsham,
Wiltshire, SN13 0RP

T: 01249 700489 F: 01249 470077

info@bhpharwood.co.uk - www.bhpharwood.co.uk

REVISIONS

NOTES:
DIMENSIONS ARE NOT TO BE SCALED FROM THIS DRAWING

ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE CHECKED AGAINST ACTUAL SITE
DIMENSIONS BEFORE ANY WORK IS FABRICATED

COPYRIGHT RESERVED
THIS DRAWING IS THE PROPERTY OF BHP HARWOOD

ARCHITECTS AND MAY NOT BE COPIED, REPRODUCED LENT OR
DISCLOSED WITHOUT THEIR EXPRESS PERMISSION IN WRITING.

Rev. Date Description

Checked

Pyrton Lane,
Watlington

Client :

Beechcroft
Developments Ltd.

Job :

Plots 35-41
Elevations

1:100

MAR 20 SR/RN RN

3509.P.212 A

A 23.03.20 Updated

P
age 48



ROOF PLAN

B

C

F A

D

E

G

H

J

K

ELEVATION A ELEVATION B
0m 5m 10m

ELEVATION C ELEVATION D ELEVATION E

ELEVATION F

ELEVATION G

A 02.04.20 Updated

PLANNING

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date: Drawn By

Drawing No: Revision:

@ A1

A R C H I T E C T S

The White Barn, Manor Farm, Manor Road
Wantage, Oxfordshire, OX12 8NE

T: 01235 765322 F: 01235 765373

The Mansion House, Hartham Park, Corsham,
Wiltshire, SN13 0RP

T: 01249 700489 F: 01249 470077

info@bhpharwood.co.uk - www.bhpharwood.co.uk

REVISIONS

NOTES:
DIMENSIONS ARE NOT TO BE SCALED FROM THIS DRAWING

ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE CHECKED AGAINST ACTUAL SITE
DIMENSIONS BEFORE ANY WORK IS FABRICATED

COPYRIGHT RESERVED
THIS DRAWING IS THE PROPERTY OF BHP HARWOOD

ARCHITECTS AND MAY NOT BE COPIED, REPRODUCED LENT OR
DISCLOSED WITHOUT THEIR EXPRESS PERMISSION IN WRITING.

Rev. Date Description

Checked

Pyrton Lane
Watlington

Client :

Beechcroft
Developments Ltd.

Job :

Care Home
Elevations (1 of 2)

1:100

Feb 2020 SR/RN RN

3509.P.215 A

Navigation Plan (NTS)

P
age 49



ROOF PLAN

B

C

F A

D

E

G

H

J

K

ELEVATION K (Shown Developed)
0m 5m 10m

ELEVATION J

ELEVATION H

_

PLANNING

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date: Drawn By

Drawing No: Revision:

@ A1

A R C H I T E C T S

The White Barn, Manor Farm, Manor Road
Wantage, Oxfordshire, OX12 8NE

T: 01235 765322 F: 01235 765373

The Mansion House, Hartham Park, Corsham,
Wiltshire, SN13 0RP

T: 01249 700489 F: 01249 470077

info@bhpharwood.co.uk - www.bhpharwood.co.uk

REVISIONS

NOTES:
DIMENSIONS ARE NOT TO BE SCALED FROM THIS DRAWING

ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE CHECKED AGAINST ACTUAL SITE
DIMENSIONS BEFORE ANY WORK IS FABRICATED

COPYRIGHT RESERVED
THIS DRAWING IS THE PROPERTY OF BHP HARWOOD

ARCHITECTS AND MAY NOT BE COPIED, REPRODUCED LENT OR
DISCLOSED WITHOUT THEIR EXPRESS PERMISSION IN WRITING.

Rev. Date Description

Checked

Pyrton Lane
Watlington

Client :

Beechcroft
Developments Ltd.

Job :

Care Home
Elevations (2 of 2)

1:200

Feb 2020 SR/RN RN

3509.P.216 _

Navigation Plan (NTS)

P
age 50



P
age 51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

APPLICATION NO. P20/S0436/RM
APPLICATION TYPE RESERVED MATTERS
REGISTERED 3.2.2020
PARISH TIDDINGTON
WARD MEMBER(S) Sarah Gray
APPLICANT Abbeyglen (Tiddington) Limited
SITE Hartgrove Oxford Road Tiddington, OX9 2LH
PROPOSAL Application for reserve matters in relation to outline 

planning application  P17S3359/O for the erection of 
2 double storey dwellings. (As amended by visiblity 
splays and turning circles accompanying email from 
agent received 13 March 2020)

OFFICER Paul Bowers

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
1.1 This application sets out the recommendation by officers to grant planning permission 

for the development. 

1.2 The application is referred to planning committee because the views of the Tiddington 
with Albury Parish Council differ from the officer’s recommendation.

1.3 The application site comprises a single detached bungalow which has access via the 
slip road which serves existing properties on the north side of Oxford Road. The 
building is not listed and not located within a designated area. 

1.4 A plan identifying the site can be found at Appendix 1 to this report.

1.5 Outline planning permission was granted under application reference P17/S3359/O to 
demolish the existing single storey dwelling and to erect 2 x two storey dwellings on 
the site. All matters of layout, access, appearance, landscaping and scale were 
reserved for later consideration in a reserved matters application.

1.6 This application seeks reserved matters approval for access, appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale for two detached dwellings.

The application has been revised during the course of the application to include vision 
splays and turning circles. 

1.7 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached at Appendix 
2. Full copies of the plans and consultation responses are available for inspection on 
the Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk

2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
2.1 Tiddington Parish Council – Object to the application for the following reasons;

- Over intensification
- Inadequate access from the slip road.
- Parking concerns, due to the narrowness of the slip road and already 

congestion issues on the slip road. 

Third party responses – 
The following comments were made to the application as originally submitted; 

Page 53

Agenda Item 8

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/S0436/RM
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

1 x letter of objection on the basis of the spacing between the buildings being out of 
keeping and concerns over highway safety from two properties on the service road and 
the proximity of the access to the property Ambleside. Also concerned about the height 
of the boundary fence between the site and Ambleside and the possibility of 
overlooking as a result. 

1 x letter of support stating that the current property is not in keeping and that two 
new houses would be welcome. 

The following comments were received to the application as revised;
1 x letter of objection on the basis that the access remains alongside Ambleside. No 
visitor parking. Increased volume of traffic on the service road. 

1 x letter of support on the basis that plans show the best way to drive onto the land. 
The development will provide better views for existing onto the service road from Denby 
House. Two new houses will help support local businesses. 

Drainage – No objection subject to conditions relating to surface water drainage. 

OCC Highways Liaison Officer – No objection subject to conditions relating to parking 
and manoeuvring areas to be retained and vision splays provided unobstructed. 

SGN Plant Protection Team – No objection and provision of advisory information. 

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
3.1 P17/S3359/O - Approved (22/12/2017)

Demolition of existing bungalow and replacement with two double storey dwellings.(As 
amplified by indicative parking plan accompanying e-mail from agent received 25 
October 2017)

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
4.1 N/A

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 Development Plan Policies

5.2 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies:
CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSEN2 – Green Belt
CSQ3  -  Design
CSR1  -  Housing in villages
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

5.3 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) Policies:
EP6  -  Sustainable drainage
D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
GB4 – Green Belt
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

Page 54

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S3359/O


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

5.4 Emerging Policies
Paragraph 48 of the NPPF allows for weight to be given to relevant policies in emerging 
plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise, and only subject to the 
stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of unresolved objections and the degree of 
consistency of the relevant emerging policies with the NPPF.

South Oxfordshire Emerging Local Plan 2034 Policies 
The council is currently progressing the emerging local plan through the examination 
stage. The plan currently carries limited weight. Relevant policies include;
DES1E  -  Delivering high quality development
DES2E  -  Enhancing local character
DES6E  -  Residential amenity
DES9E  -  Promoting sustainable design
EP4E  -  Flood risk
H16E  -  Infill development
STRAT1E  -  The overall strategy
STRAT6E – Green Belt
TRANS5E  -  Consideration of development proposals

Tiddington And Albury Emerging Neighbourhood Development Plan
Tiddington with Albury Parish Neighbourhood Area was formally designated on 21 
December 2016. The parish council has started the process of gathering evidence and 
engaging with the local community. This is to give the plan a direction and draft policies 
that will form the neighbourhood plan. As the Neighbourhood Plan is at the plan 
preparation stage it can not be given weight in the determination of the application at 
this stage.

5.5 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)
Developer Contributions SPD 

5.6 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

5.7 Other Relevant Legislation
Human Rights Act 1998
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.
Equality Act 2010
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 

applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local 
planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far 
as material to the application, and to any other material considerations.

In the case of this application, the most relevant parts of the Development Plan are the 
South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 (SOCS) which was adopted in December 2012 
and the saved policies of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP).

Page 55



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

6.2 The main issues to consider in relation to this development are as follows;

 The principle of development.
 Impact on the Green Belt.
 Impact on the character of the area.
 Impact on neighbour amenity.
 Amenity space. 
 Parking provision.
 Drainage.
 Community Infrastructure Levy

6.3 The principle of development.

It has been established through the grant of outline planning permission that two 
houses can be erected on this site. The principle has already been accepted by the 
council. 

6.4 Impact on the Green Belt. 

Policy context - 
The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land 
permanently open. This is set out in Section 13 of the advice from Central Government 
in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 

The advice contained within the NPPF is filtered down on a more local level within the 
development plan specifically SOCS policy CSEN2 and SOLP policy GB4. It is also 
reflected in emerging policy STRAT6 of ESOLP. 

6.5 Paragraph 134 of the NPPF sets out the five purposes of the green belt;
- to check the unrestricted urban sprawl of large built up areas;
- to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;
- to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;
- to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and
- to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and 

other urban land. 

In addition, there is a presumption against inappropriate development. Paragraph 143 
states that inappropriate development is by definition harmful to the Green Belt and 
should not be approved except in very special circumstances. 

Paragraph 144 states that when local authorities are considering planning applications 
substantial weight should be given to any harm to the Green Belt. It goes on to say that 
‘very special circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by 
reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other 
considerations

6.6 Paragraph 145 advises that a local planning authority should regard the construction of 
new buildings as inappropriate development in the Green Belt except for the following 
purposes;

a) buildings for agriculture and forestry;
b) the provision of appropriate facilities (in connection with the existing use of land or a 
change of use) for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation, cemeteries and burial grounds 
and allotments; as long as the facilities preserve the openness of the Green Belt and do 

Page 56



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

not conflict with the purposes of including land within it;
c) the extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in 
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building;
d) the replacement of a building, provided the new building is in the same use and not 
materially larger than the one it replaces;
e) limited infilling in villages;
f) limited affordable housing for local community needs under policies set out in the 
development plan (including policies for rural exception sites); and
g) limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed 
land, whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary buildings), which 
would:
‒ not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing 
development; or
‒ not cause substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt, where the 
development would re-use previously developed land and contribute to meeting an 
identified affordable housing need within the area of the local planning authority

6.7 Policies CSEN2 of SOCS and GB4 of SOLP seek to protect the Green Belt and makes 
it clear that planning permission will not be granted for development within the Green 
Belt that is contrary to the guidance in the NPPF.

This is reflected in emerging policy contained with ESOLP Policy STRAT6. 

The Green Belt assessment is a two-step process. The first step in assessing the 
impact on the Green Belt is to consider whether the proposal constitutes inappropriate 
development or not. 

If it is established that the development is not inappropriate, then the second step is to 
consider whether the development harms the openness of Green Belt. 

If the proposal conflicts with either of these then the council has to consider whether 
there are any ‘very special circumstances’ that would outweigh the identified harm.

6.8 Whether the proposal is inappropriate – 

The outline planning permission was granted on the basis that two dwellings being 
erected here would constitute infill development. 

This falls within the exception (e) in paragraph 145 of the NPPF. 

The development is not therefore inappropriate development in the context of the 
Green Belt. 

6.9 Does the development harm openness?

Erecting a dwelling on an open piece of land within a village (or in this case erecting 
two dwellings where there is only one at the moment) will always have an impact on 
openness. 

However, the fact that the NPPF does not consider infill development as inappropriate 
form of development means that there is an acceptance that some limited impact on 
openness as a result of having new buildings is acceptable. 

The outline permission has accepted the principle of 2 x two storey dwellings as having 
an acceptable impact on openness. 

Page 57



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

The proposed buildings shown in this application are not overly high, wide or deep and 
in my view do not result in an impact on openness over that envisaged with the outline 
planning permission.

6.10 I am of the view that the impact on the Green Belt is acceptable and there is no need to 
have to consider whether there are any very special circumstances to justify the 
proposal. The development accords with Policies CSEN2 and GB4 of the development 
plan. 

6.11 If a proposed housing development is acceptable then the detail of the proposal must 
be assessed against the criteria of Policy H4 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 
(SOLP). The criteria are:

(i) An important open space of public, environmental or ecological value is 
not lost, nor an important view spoilt.

(ii) The design, height, scale and materials of the proposed development are 
in keeping with its surroundings.

(iii) The character of the area in not adversely affected.
(iv)There should be no overriding amenity or environmental or highway 

objections. 
(v) It would not create problems of privacy and access and would not extend 

the built up limits of the settlement.

6.12 Impact on the character of the area.

The outline planning permission established that 2 two storey dwellings could be 
erected on this site. However, the detail of how the two dwellings would appear, their 
size, design and scale even whether they were to be detached or a pair of semis was 
left for consideration in this reserved matter application.

6.13 What is proposed are two detached, two storey dwellings. In terms of their siting there 
is local concern about the spacing between properties. However, there is no uniform 
distance between properties along this extent of Oxford Road. The gaps vary and the 
proposed spacing between each other and the properties on either side are in my view 
wholly acceptable. They do not sit directly on the boundaries and allow for some 
spacing. I am satisfied that the development will not result in a cramped appearance.

6.14 The existing single storey dwelling is in my view out of keeping with the rest of the 
street scene when compared to the heights and scales of adjoining properties. 
However, there is no uniform design, material or scale to properties along this northern 
side of Oxford Road. The proposed two dwellings will in my opinion add to the existing 
variety rather than appear at odds with the established character of the area. 

6.15 I am satisfied that in terms of criterions (i) and (ii) of Policy H4 of SOLP the 
development

6.16 Impact on neighbour amenity.

Impact on residential amenity is normally considered in terms of whether a 
development results in material harm by way of overlooking, loss of sunlight or being so 
large and close that it is considered oppressive and overbearing. 

Policies H4 and D4 of the SOLP seeks to protect the amenities of the occupants of 
nearby properties.

Page 58



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

Emerging Policy DES6 relates to residential amenity and states that proposals should 
demonstrate that they will not result in significant adverse impacts on the amenity of 
neighbouring uses in relation to 

i) loss of privacy, daylight or sunlight;
ii) dominance or visual intrusion;
iii)  noise or vibration;
iv) smell, dust, heat, odour, gases or other emissions;
v) pollution, contamination or the use of/or storage of hazardous substances; 

and
vi) external lighting. 

6.17 The outline planning permission accepted that two dwellings could be erected where 
there is now a single storey dwelling. In doing so there is an acceptance of the 
increased impact of 2 x two storey dwellings to the neighbouring properties on either 
side. The exact position, height, and detailing such as window positions are now under 
consideration in this application.

6.18 In terms of depth the two properties are similar to the depth and position of the 
properties on either side. I am satisfied that the relationship between the adjoining 
properties will not give rise to an unacceptable level of oppressiveness or of being 
overbearing.

6.19 The orientation is such that the new dwellings will be to the west and east of the 
adjacent properties. As such there will be no direct loss of sunlight given that the two 
properties will be parallel to the neighbouring buildings. 

6.20 As a single storey building there will be no overlooking from the existing dwelling. By 
creating two storey properties there will be first floor windows in the rear. This has 
essentially been accepted through the outline permission which allowed for two storey 
dwellings. However, the first floor windows will have oblique views over the 
neighbouring properties in a typical street like relationship which already exists in the 
case of Ambleside to the west which has a two storey dwelling on its opposite 
boundary. 

There is however a window serving an ensuite in Unit 2 at first floor level in the east 
facing elevation, and the stair well windows in the side of Unit 1, which have the 
potential to provide more direct views into the rear gardens of the neighbouring 
properties. Therefore, I consider it necessary and reasonable to require these windows 
to be obscure glazed. This is ensured through the proposed condition set out in section 
8.2 of this report.

6.21 Overall however I am of the opinion that the development accords with Policy D4 and 
the relevant criteria of Policy H4. 

6.22 Amenity space. 

Policy D3 of SOLP seeks to ensure that new dwellings should provide adequate private 
outdoor space. The amount of land to be used for garden or amenity space will be 
determined by the size of the dwelling and the character of surrounding development.

Page 59



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

Emerging Policy DES5 of ESOLP reflects these objectives. 

The South Oxfordshire Design Guide sets out the minimum amount of private amenity 
space (i.e. rear garden) based on the number bedrooms the property has. For 3 
bedroom units, private garden areas should be 100 square metres or above.

The inability to provide these minimum standards can be an indication that what is 
being proposed is an overdevelopment of the site. 

6.23 The two dwellings provide for 3 bedrooms each which requires at least 100 square 
metres of private amenity space. The application red site area shows approximately 
100 square metres per dwelling. 

The garden sizes in conjunction with the parking provision (which I shall consider in the 
following section of this report) and the overall spacing around the buildings is such that 
what is shown does not in my view harm the character of the area or appear cramped 
and overdeveloped. 

6.24 Parking provision.

With respect to highway safety matters the advice from Central Government set out in 
paragraph 109 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is as follows:

Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would 
be an unacceptable impact on highway safety.

Policy T1 of SOLP seeks to ensure that all types of development will, where 
appropriate, provide for safe and convenient access to the highway network. 

Policy T2 of SOLP seeks to ensure that development does not harm highway safety 
and provides for sufficient parking and turning areas.

Emerging Policy TRANS5 echoes these provisions.

Appendix 5 of SOLP sets out the council’s maximum parking standards based on the 
number of bedrooms within a development.

For 1 bedroom units the maximum requirement is 1 space. For 2/3 bedroom units 2 
spaces and for 4+ bedrooms 2+ spaces on merit. 

6.25 The Highway Officer has considered the development in terms of the access, visibility, 
the amount of parking within the site and space available for turning. The plans have 
been altered at the request of the Highway Officer to show visibility splays and turning 
circles to allow cars to enter and exit in a forward gear. 

The revised plans now meet with the approval of the Highways Officer who has no 
objection subject to conditions which require the parking and manoeuvring areas to be 
retained and the vision splay dimensions provided unobstructed.

In conjunction with these conditions the development will not cause a harmful impact to 
highway safety and accords with Policy T1 and T2 of SOLP. 

Page 60



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

6.26 Drainage.

Policy EP6 of SOCS states that developers will be required wherever practicable to 
demonstrate that the surface water management systems on any development accords 
with sustainable drainage principles and should effectively mitigate any adverse effects 
from surface water runoff. 
Emerging Policy INF4 states that all development proposals must demonstrate that 
there is or will be adequate water supply, surface water, foul drainage and sewerage 
treatment capacity to serve the whole development

6.27 The Council’s Drainage Engineers have considered the development and requested a 
condition that requires details of the surface water drainage scheme to be submitted 
and approved in writing by the council. In doing so the development will accord with 
Policy EP6 of SOLP. 

6.28 Community Infrastructure Levy

The development is CIL liable and based on the floor area being created would trigger 
a payment of £17,853.82.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Outline planning permission has been granted which has established the principle of 

demolishing the existing bungalow and erecting two dwellings in its place.  This 
application seeks approval for matters of access, appearance, landscaping, layout and 
scale. In respect of this matters the development is considered acceptable and does 
not give rise to an unneighbourly impact, highway safety issues or appear at odds with 
the character of the area. In conjunction with the attached conditions the development 
will accord with development plan policies. Your officers recommend that reserved 
matters approval is granted.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 That Reserved Matters approval is granted subject to the following conditions;

Standard conditions
1 : Commencement - Reserved Matters Approval
2 : Approved plans 

Pre commencement conditions
3 : Schedule of Materials
4 : Surface water drainage works (details required)

Compliance conditions
5 : Obscure glazing 
6 : Parking and manoeuvring areas to be retained
7 : Vision splays provided

Author:         Mr. P Bowers
E-mail :         planning@southoxon.gov.uk 
Contact No:  01235 422600

Page 61

mailto:planning@southoxon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

Page 63

Agenda Item 8P20/S0436/RM



North

Ambleside

O

X

F

O

R

D

 
R

O

A

D

Sunnyside

H

o

m

e

w

a

r

d

Hartgrove

Hillside

T

h

i
s

t

l
e

d

o

w

n

e

Denby

S

a

n

d

y

 
L

a

n

e

 
E

s

t
a

t
e

4

69.3m

Ambleside

O

X

F

O

R

D

 
R

O

A

D

H

o

m

e

w

a

r

d

Hartgrove

Hillside

T

h

i
s

t

l
e

d

o

w

n

e

Denby

Unit 2

Unit 1

North

464700m 464800m

RWP

RWP

RWP

SVP

North

205100m

General Notes

For any other purpose other than

planning, contractors, suppliers, etc.,

must not scale dimensions from this

drawing. If in doubt ask! All dimensions

should be checked on site.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction

with all relevant other drawings, detailed

specifications, Engineer's drawings,

detail sheets and calculations.

Assumptions have been made on some

of the detail to existing fabric. Any

discrepancies or differences to be

reported back by the main contractor

upon opening up.

Materials and workmanship

Any building work to be carried out with

proper materials and in a workmanlike

manner in accordance with regulation 7

of the Building Regulations. The builder

may show compliance with regulation 7

in a number of ways including the

appropriate use of a product bearing CE

marking in accordance with the

Construction Products Directive

(89/106/EEC) as amended by the CE

Marking Directive (93/68/EEC)1 or a

product complying with an appropriate

technical specification (as defined in

those Directives), a British Standard or

an alternative national technical

specification of any state which is a

contracting party to the European

Economic Area which in use is

equivalent, or a product covered by a

national or European certificate issued

by a European Technical Approval

issuing body, and the conditions of use

are in accordance with the terms of the

certificate.

Drawing Title

Scale
Date drawn

15 Nov. '19
As noted

Rev.

4

Drawing No.

Revisions

Date

...........................
15/11/2019

366/100

Project Name and Address

Copyright © 2014 al3d

al3d

Unit 1 - The Hall

High Street,

Tetsworth.

Oxfordshire

OX9 7AB

01844 281715

P R O J E C T S

DESIGN ® DEVELOPMENT ® DELIVERY

No.

0

Location, Site plan

and Proposed Roof Plan

 Hartgrove

Oxford Road, Tiddington

Oxfordshire

OX9 2LH

Location plan - Existing

1:1250 at A3

Site plan - Showing proposed roof plan

1:500 at A3

Proposed Roof Plan for both dwellings   1:100 at A3

...........................
02/12/2019

1

Pink dotted line

shows existing.

Existing windows at

first floor with 45

degree BRE light

angle indicated

Existing access

retained.

New access to unit 1

...........................
17/12/2019

2

Service road.

Proposed timber

fence between

properties.

Proposed bins storage

Blue dotted line shows the

recently acquired gardens.

...........................
30/01/2020

3

...........................
31/01/2020

4

Appendix 2

P
age 64



B
o

u
n

d
a

r
y

B
o

u
n

d
a

r
y

General Notes

Do not  scale dimensions from this

drawing. If in doubt ask! All dimensions

should be checked on site.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction

with all relevant other drawings, detailed

specifications, Engineer's drawings,

detail sheets and calculations.

Assumptions have been made on some

of the detail to existing fabric. Any

discrepancies or differences to be

reported back by the main contractor

upon opening up.

Materials and workmanship

Any building work to be carried out with

proper materials and in a workmanlike

manner in accordance with regulation 7

of the Building Regulations. The builder

may show compliance with regulation 7

in a number of ways including the

appropriate use of a product bearing CE

marking in accordance with the

Construction Products Directive

(89/106/EEC) as amended by the CE

Marking Directive (93/68/EEC)1 or a

product complying with an appropriate

technical specification (as defined in

those Directives), a British Standard or

an alternative national technical

specification of any state which is a

contracting party to the European

Economic Area which in use is

equivalent, or a product covered by a

national or European certificate issued

by a European Technical Approval

issuing body, and the conditions of use

are in accordance with the terms of the

certificate.

Drawing Title

ScaleDate drawn

As noted

Rev.

Drawing No.

Date

Project Name and Address

Copyright © 2014 al3d

al3d

Unit 1 - The Hall

High Street,

Tetsworth.

Oxfordshire

OX9 7AB

07786 855685

P R O J E C T S

DESIGN ® DEVELOPMENT ® DELIVERY

No.

Existing

Elevations

366/105

0

Revisions

--------------
11/12/2019

0

15 Nov. 2019

Existing North-East Elevation   1:100 at A3 Existing North-West Elevation   1:100 at A3

Existing South-West Elevation   1:100 at A3

Existing South-East Elevation   1:100 at A3

 Hartgrove

Oxford Road, Tiddington

Oxfordshire

OX9 2LH

P
age 65



General Notes

For any other purpose other than

planning, contractors, suppliers, etc.,

must not scale dimensions from this

drawing. If in doubt ask! All dimensions

should be checked on site.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction

with all relevant other drawings, detailed

specifications, Engineer's drawings,

detail sheets and calculations.

Assumptions have been made on some

of the detail to existing fabric. Any

discrepancies or differences to be

reported back by the main contractor

upon opening up.

Materials and workmanship

Any building work to be carried out with

proper materials and in a workmanlike

manner in accordance with regulation 7

of the Building Regulations. The builder

may show compliance with regulation 7

in a number of ways including the

appropriate use of a product bearing CE

marking in accordance with the

Construction Products Directive

(89/106/EEC) as amended by the CE

Marking Directive (93/68/EEC)1 or a

product complying with an appropriate

technical specification (as defined in

those Directives), a British Standard or

an alternative national technical

specification of any state which is a

contracting party to the European

Economic Area which in use is

equivalent, or a product covered by a

national or European certificate issued

by a European Technical Approval

issuing body, and the conditions of use

are in accordance with the terms of the

certificate.

Drawing Title

Scale
Date drawn

15 Nov. '19
As noted

Rev.

3

Drawing No.

Revisions

Date

...........................
02/12/2019

366/102

Project Name and Address

Copyright © 2014 al3d

al3d

Unit 1 - The Hall

High Street,

Tetsworth.

Oxfordshire

OX9 7AB

01844 281715

P R O J E C T S

DESIGN ® DEVELOPMENT ® DELIVERY

No.

0

Proposed Elevations

for both dwellings

B
o

u
n

d
a

r
y

Front South Elevation  1:100  at A3 Side West Elevation  1:100  at A3

Rear North Elevation  1:100  at A3 Side East Elevation  1:100  at A3

Brick

B
o

u
n

d
a

r
y

B
o

u
n

d
a

r
y

B
o

u
n

d
a

r
y

Slate

Obscure glazing

Obscure glazing

Timber

...........................
17/12/2019

1

 Hartgrove

Oxford Road, Tiddington

Oxfordshire

OX9 2LH

...........................
30/01/2020

2

...........................
31/01/2020

3

Elevations for both dwellings  1:100  at A3

P
age 66



Bedroom 2

11.10 m

2

G-FFL

3000

Living Room

24.05 m

2

Bedroom 1

10.87 m

2

Kitchen

11.15 m

2

Bathroom

5.43 m

2

Conservatory

10.58 m

2

Garage

22.83 m

2

G-FFL

3000

G-FFL

2850

G-FFL

2750

G-FFL

2850

step 100

step 150

Step 150

Shed

11.41 m

2

Hall

Hall

RWP

RWP

SVP

RWP

RWP

RWP

General Notes

Do not  scale dimensions from this

drawing. If in doubt ask! All dimensions

should be checked on site.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction

with all relevant other drawings, detailed

specifications, Engineer's drawings,

detail sheets and calculations.

Assumptions have been made on some

of the detail to existing fabric. Any

discrepancies or differences to be

reported back by the main contractor

upon opening up.

Materials and workmanship

Any building work to be carried out with

proper materials and in a workmanlike

manner in accordance with regulation 7

of the Building Regulations. The builder

may show compliance with regulation 7

in a number of ways including the

appropriate use of a product bearing CE

marking in accordance with the

Construction Products Directive

(89/106/EEC) as amended by the CE

Marking Directive (93/68/EEC)1 or a

product complying with an appropriate

technical specification (as defined in

those Directives), a British Standard or

an alternative national technical

specification of any state which is a

contracting party to the European

Economic Area which in use is

equivalent, or a product covered by a

national or European certificate issued

by a European Technical Approval

issuing body, and the conditions of use

are in accordance with the terms of the

certificate.

Drawing Title

ScaleDate drawn

As noted

Rev.

Drawing No.

Date

Project Name and Address

Copyright © 2014 al3d

al3d

Unit 1 - The Hall

High Street,

Tetsworth.

Oxfordshire

OX9 7AB

07786 855685

P R O J E C T S

DESIGN ® DEVELOPMENT ® DELIVERY

No.

Existing

Ground Floor Plan

366/106

0

Revisions

--------------
11/12/2019

0

15 Nov. 2019

Existing Ground Floor Plan

1:50 at A3

North
 Hartgrove

Oxford Road, Tiddington

Oxfordshire

OX9 2LH

P
age 67



North

Lobby

9.05 m

2

1

Fridge

Kitchen & Dining

25.00 m

2

Living room

17.25 m

2

WC

1.50 m

2

SVP

Porche

20.50 m

2

SVP

RWP

RWP

2

3

4

5

6

7

RWP

Bathroom

6.65 m

2

Bedroom 3

14.05 m

2

Bedroom 1

11.55 m

2

Bedroom 2

9.90 m

2

En-suite

3.75 m

2

SVP

RWP

RWP

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10 11 12 13 14

SVP

RWP

General Notes

For any other purpose other than

planning, contractors, suppliers, etc.,

must not scale dimensions from this

drawing. If in doubt ask! All dimensions

should be checked on site.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction

with all relevant other drawings, detailed

specifications, Engineer's drawings,

detail sheets and calculations.

Assumptions have been made on some

of the detail to existing fabric. Any

discrepancies or differences to be

reported back by the main contractor

upon opening up.

Materials and workmanship

Any building work to be carried out with

proper materials and in a workmanlike

manner in accordance with regulation 7

of the Building Regulations. The builder

may show compliance with regulation 7

in a number of ways including the

appropriate use of a product bearing CE

marking in accordance with the

Construction Products Directive

(89/106/EEC) as amended by the CE

Marking Directive (93/68/EEC)1 or a

product complying with an appropriate

technical specification (as defined in

those Directives), a British Standard or

an alternative national technical

specification of any state which is a

contracting party to the European

Economic Area which in use is

equivalent, or a product covered by a

national or European certificate issued

by a European Technical Approval

issuing body, and the conditions of use

are in accordance with the terms of the

certificate.

Drawing Title

Scale
Date drawn

15 Nov. '19
As noted

Rev.

6

Drawing No.

Revisions

Date

...........................
15/11/2019

366/101

Project Name and Address

Copyright © 2014 al3d

al3d

Unit 1 - The Hall

High Street,

Tetsworth.

Oxfordshire

OX9 7AB

01844 281715

P R O J E C T S

DESIGN ® DEVELOPMENT ® DELIVERY

No.

0

Proposed Ground

and First Floor

for both dwellings

Proposed Ground Floor for both dwellings

1:50  at A3

Grey dotted line shows

compliance with the minimum

required space in front of the pan

WC in Part M.

Proposed First Floor for both dwellings

1:50 at A3

Client requirements changes.
19/11/2019

1

Minor amendments.
02/12/2019

2

Client requirement changes.
10/12/2019

3

Client requirement changes.
17/12/2019

4

 Hartgrove

Oxford Road, Tiddington

Oxfordshire

OX9 2LH

Client requirement changes.
30/01/2020

5

.................................
31/01/2020

6

P
age 68



Denby

Parked car

1-Forward

2-Reverse

3-Forward

Car 1

Car leaving

Car entering

Parked car

2-Reverse

1-Forward

Car entering

Car leaving

Car 1

3-Forward

4-Reverse

5-Forward

General Notes

For any other purpose other than

planning, contractors, suppliers, etc.,

must not scale dimensions from this

drawing. If in doubt ask! All dimensions

should be checked on site.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction

with all relevant other drawings, detailed

specifications, Engineer's drawings,

detail sheets and calculations.

Assumptions have been made on some

of the detail to existing fabric. Any

discrepancies or differences to be

reported back by the main contractor

upon opening up.

Materials and workmanship

Any building work to be carried out with

proper materials and in a workmanlike

manner in accordance with regulation 7

of the Building Regulations. The builder

may show compliance with regulation 7

in a number of ways including the

appropriate use of a product bearing CE

marking in accordance with the

Construction Products Directive

(89/106/EEC) as amended by the CE

Marking Directive (93/68/EEC)1 or a

product complying with an appropriate

technical specification (as defined in

those Directives), a British Standard or

an alternative national technical

specification of any state which is a

contracting party to the European

Economic Area which in use is

equivalent, or a product covered by a

national or European certificate issued

by a European Technical Approval

issuing body, and the conditions of use

are in accordance with the terms of the

certificate.

Drawing Title

Scale
Date drawn

15 Nov. '19
As noted

Rev.

0

Drawing No.

Revisions

Date

...........................
13/03/2020

366/108

Project Name and Address

Copyright © 2014 al3d

al3d

Unit 1 - The Hall

High Street,

Tetsworth.

Oxfordshire

OX9 7AB

01844 281715

P R O J E C T S

DESIGN ® DEVELOPMENT ® DELIVERY

No.

0

Turning Circles Car 1

In and Out

Turning Circles Car 1 - In and Out  1:100  at A3

Service road

 Hartgrove

Oxford Road, Tiddington

Oxfordshire

OX9 2LH

Car in

Car out

P
age 69



Denby

Parked car

1-Forward

2-Reverse

3-Forward

Car 2

Car entering

Parked car

Car 2

1-Forward

2-Reverse

3-Forward

Car entering

Car leaving

Car leaving

General Notes

For any other purpose other than

planning, contractors, suppliers, etc.,

must not scale dimensions from this

drawing. If in doubt ask! All dimensions

should be checked on site.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction

with all relevant other drawings, detailed

specifications, Engineer's drawings,

detail sheets and calculations.

Assumptions have been made on some

of the detail to existing fabric. Any

discrepancies or differences to be

reported back by the main contractor

upon opening up.

Materials and workmanship

Any building work to be carried out with

proper materials and in a workmanlike

manner in accordance with regulation 7

of the Building Regulations. The builder

may show compliance with regulation 7

in a number of ways including the

appropriate use of a product bearing CE

marking in accordance with the

Construction Products Directive

(89/106/EEC) as amended by the CE

Marking Directive (93/68/EEC)1 or a

product complying with an appropriate

technical specification (as defined in

those Directives), a British Standard or

an alternative national technical

specification of any state which is a

contracting party to the European

Economic Area which in use is

equivalent, or a product covered by a

national or European certificate issued

by a European Technical Approval

issuing body, and the conditions of use

are in accordance with the terms of the

certificate.

Drawing Title

Scale
Date drawn

15 Nov. '19
As noted

Rev.

0

Drawing No.

Revisions

Date

...........................
13/03/2020

366/109

Project Name and Address

Copyright © 2014 al3d

al3d

Unit 1 - The Hall

High Street,

Tetsworth.

Oxfordshire

OX9 7AB

01844 281715

P R O J E C T S

DESIGN ® DEVELOPMENT ® DELIVERY

No.

0

Turning Circles Car 2

In and Out

Turning Circles Car 2 - In and Out  1:100  at A3

Service road

 Hartgrove

Oxford Road, Tiddington

Oxfordshire

OX9 2LH

Car in

Car out

P
age 70



O

X

F

O

R

D

 
R

O

A

D

Hartgrove

Denby

S

a

n

d

y

 
L

a

n

e

 
E

s

t
a

t
e

69.3m

Unit 2

Unit 1

2

4

0

0

9

0

 
m

SVP

RW

P

RWP

RW

P

SVP

RWP

RWP

RWP

O

X

F

O

R

D

 
R

O

A

D

Hartgrove

Denby

S

a

n

d

y

 
L

a

n

e

 
E

s

t
a

t
e

69.3m

Unit 2

Unit 1

2

4

0

0

9

0

 
m

SVP

RWP

RWP

RWP

SVP

RWP

RWP

RWP

General Notes

For any other purpose other than

planning, contractors, suppliers, etc.,

must not scale dimensions from this

drawing. If in doubt ask! All dimensions

should be checked on site.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction

with all relevant other drawings, detailed

specifications, Engineer's drawings,

detail sheets and calculations.

Assumptions have been made on some

of the detail to existing fabric. Any

discrepancies or differences to be

reported back by the main contractor

upon opening up.

Materials and workmanship

Any building work to be carried out with

proper materials and in a workmanlike

manner in accordance with regulation 7

of the Building Regulations. The builder

may show compliance with regulation 7

in a number of ways including the

appropriate use of a product bearing CE

marking in accordance with the

Construction Products Directive

(89/106/EEC) as amended by the CE

Marking Directive (93/68/EEC)1 or a

product complying with an appropriate

technical specification (as defined in

those Directives), a British Standard or

an alternative national technical

specification of any state which is a

contracting party to the European

Economic Area which in use is

equivalent, or a product covered by a

national or European certificate issued

by a European Technical Approval

issuing body, and the conditions of use

are in accordance with the terms of the

certificate.

Drawing Title

Scale
Date drawn

15 Nov. '19
As noted

Rev.

1

Drawing No.

Revisions

Date

...........................
17/12/2019

366/107

Project Name and Address

Copyright © 2014 al3d

al3d

Unit 1 - The Hall

High Street,

Tetsworth.

Oxfordshire

OX9 7AB

01844 281715

P R O J E C T S

DESIGN ® DEVELOPMENT ® DELIVERY

No.

0

Vision Splay

Vision Splay Unit 1  1:1250  at A3

Pink hatched area indicates the vision

splay of the main road, set out 2.4 m from the

nearer edge of the road and 90 m from the

middle point of the entrance as the indicated

visibility distance splays at junctions in

the Manual for the Streets

Vision Splay Unit 2  1:1250  at A3

 Hartgrove

Oxford Road, Tiddington

Oxfordshire

OX9 2LH

...........................
06/03/2020

1

P
age 71



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

APPLICATION NO. P20/S0453/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 3.3.2020
PARISH HORSPATH
WARD MEMBER(S) Elizabeth Gillespie
APPLICANT Mr E P Parker & Ms F C M Steepe  Parker
SITE 69-71 Gidley Way Horspath, OX33 1RG
PROPOSAL Demolition of an existing house and outbuildings 

and the erection of five flats and two semi-detached 
houses.

OFFICER Paul Bowers

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
1.1 This report sets out my recommendation for approval and how that recommendation 

has been reached. 

1.2 The application is referred to planning committee at the discretion of the Planning 
Manager.

1.3 The application site comprises an area of land consisting of two properties; numbers 
69 and 71 Gildey Way. Number 69 is set back in the plot whereas number 71 is 
located toward the front of the site and fronts directly on to Gidley Way, Horspath. 
Neither buildings are listed or in a conservation area but are located within the Oxford 
Green Belt. 

On the western boundary of the site near to the boundary with the road are mature 
walnut trees which are the subject of a tree preservation order. Both properties have 
vehicular access on to Gidley Way. 

A plan identifying the site can be found at Appendix 1 to this report. 

1.4 There have been a series of planning applications on this site and the site 
immediately to the south west.

Planning permission has been granted for a single detached dwelling on land within 
the rear garden of 71 Gidley Way (this site) under application reference 
P16/S2303/FUL.

Outline planning permission under application reference P17/S2114/O for two 
dwellings sited in tandem was granted in 2017 on land to the south west. No reserved 
matters applications have been submitted to the council so far.

Planning permission was then granted on this site under application reference 
P19/S1871/FUL for the demolition of the existing dwelling known as 69 Gidley Way 
and erection of two buildings on the site. One on the frontage comprising 4 flats and a 
building to the rear of the site forming a two-storey pair of semi-detached dwellings. 
This development essentially replaced the P16/S2303/FUL permission for a single 
dwelling making that permission unimplementable. 

A full application was submitted and granted permission under reference 
P19/S3079/FUL for development of the adjoining site as an alternative to the outline 

Page 73

Agenda Item 9

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/S0453/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

permission for two dwellings to provide housing mix of four flats & two detached 
dwellings, including associated access, amenity space and parking provisions.

1.5 Following the grant of planning permission under reference P19/S1871/FUL for 4 flats 
and 2 dwellings this application seeks full planning permission for five flats and two 
semi-detached houses increasing the number of flats previously approved by one. 

1.6 Reduced copies of the plans and supporting volume information accompanying the 
application is attached as Appendix 2 to this report. All the plans and representations 
can be viewed on the council’s website www.southoxon.gov.uk under the planning 
application reference number.

2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
2.1 Horspath Parish Council – Objection on the grounds of vehicle access. The increased 

number of vehicles/traffic movements in that area will be detrimental to the village.

Third Party Responses – 1 x letter of objection that the proposal constitutes an 
overdevelopment and the site is more suited to two dwellings. 

Countryside Officer - No objection subject to conditions.

Drainage – No objection subject to conditions. 

Forestry Officer – No objection subject to conditions. 

OCC Highways Liaison Officer – No objection subject to conditions. 

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
3.1 P20/S0154/NM - Approved (25/02/2020)

Non material amendment to application ref. P18/S3761/HH - ramp design for driveway 
to replace original design requiring levelling of ground 

P19/S3079/FUL - Approved (27/01/2020) (On adjoining land)
Development of site to provide housing mix of four flats & two detached dwellings, 
including associated access, amenity space and parking provisions

P19/S1871/FUL - Approved (17/09/2019)
Demolition of an existing house and outbuildings and the erection of four flats and two 
semi detached houses within the grounds of 69-71 Gidley Way, Horspath. 

P19/S1410/PEM - Response (16/05/2019)
Residential Development providing 8 flats within 2 units, including associated parking, 
landscaping, access and amenity.

P18/S3761/HH - Approved (27/03/2019)
To insert a new driveway into a raised garden and construct a retaining wall. To drop 
the kerb. 

P19/S0379/PEM – Response (20/03/2019)
Residential development with associated access and landscaping.

P17/S2114/O - Approved (08/11/2017) – (On adjoining land)
Erection of two detached dwellings with vehicular access from Gidley Way.

P16/S2303/FUL - Approved (30/08/2016)

Page 74

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/S0154/NM
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S3079/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S1871/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S1410/PEM
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S3761/HH
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S0379/PEM
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S2114/O
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S2303/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

New 2 bedroom dwelling  with associated parking and landscaping.

P16/S1821/HH - Approved (20/07/2016)
Removal of front facing garage door, proposed single storey extension to front.

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
4.1 N/A

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 Development Plan Policies

South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies:
CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSB1  -  Conservation and improvement of biodiversity
CSEN2  -  Green Belt protection
CSH4  -  Meeting housing needs
CSQ3  -  Design
CSR1  -  Housing in villages
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) Policies:
C8  -  Adverse affect on protected species
EP6  -  Sustainable drainage
C9  -  Loss of landscape features
D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
GB4  -  Openness of Green Belt maintained
H4  -  Housing on sites within the built up areas of towns and villages
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.2 Paragraph 48 of the NPPF allows for weight to be given to relevant policies in emerging 
plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise, and only subject to the 
stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of unresolved objections and the degree of 
consistency of the relevant emerging policies with the NPPF.

South Oxfordshire Emerging Local Plan 2034 (ESOLP)Policies 
The council is currently progressing the emerging local plan through the examination 
stage. The plan currently carries limited weight. Relevant policies include;
DES1  -  Delivering high quality development
DES2  -  Enhancing local character
DES3  -  Design and Access Statements
DES5  -  Outdoor amenity space
DES6  -  Residential amenity
ENV1  -  Landscape and countryside
ENV3  -  Biodiversity Non designated sites, habitats and species
EP4  -  Flood risk
H16  -  Infill development
INF4  -  Water resources
STRAT6  -  Green Belt
TRANS5  -  Consideration of development proposals

Page 75

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S1821/HH


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

Emerging Horspath Neighbourhood Plan
Horspath Parish Council is working on a neighbourhood plan. Horspath Neighbourhood 
Area was formally designated on 24 August 2016. The parish council has started the 
process of gathering evidence and engaging with the local community. This is to give 
the plan a direction and draft policies that will form the neighbourhood plan. At this 
stage of development, it carries no weight in decision making. 

5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)
Developer Contributions SPD 

5.4 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance

5.5 Other Relevant Legislation
Human Rights Act 1998
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.
Equality Act 2010
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 

applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local 
planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far 
as material to the application, and to any other material considerations.

In the case of this application, the most relevant parts of the Development Plan are the 
South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 (SOCS) which was adopted in December 2012 
and the saved policies of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP).

6.2 The main issues that need to be considered in relation to this proposal are;

 The principle of the development in terms of housing policy. 
 Impact on the Green Belt.
 Housing mix.
 Neighbour impact.
 Impact on the visual amenity of the area. 
 Amenity space.
 Highway impact.
 Impact on protected species. 
 Impact on trees.
 Drainage. 
 Community Infrastructure Levy.

6.3 The principle of the development in terms of housing policy. 

Policy CSS1 of SOCS sets the overall spatial development strategy for South
Oxfordshire. It indicates that major new growth will be provided at Didcot and the towns 
of Henley, Thame and Wallingford. Beyond those centres, some growth will be 
accommodated within certain villages.

Page 76



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

This is reflected in emerging policy STRAT1 from ESOLP but that policy carries limited 
weight at this stage. 

Horspath is classified in Appendix 4 of SOCS as a ‘Smaller Village’.

Policy CSR1 indicates that in ‘Smaller villages’, infill development on sites of up to 
0.2ha (or equivalent of 5-6 houses) would be permissible.

The approach is also reflected in Policy H16 of ESOLP. 

Infill is defined in Appendix 1 of SOCS as the filling of a small gap in an otherwise built 
up frontage or on other sites within settlements where the site is closely surrounded by 
buildings. 

6.4 The first step in the assessment is to consider whether the site is within the settlement. 
The site fronts on to Gidley Way and extends north west and includes existing buildings 
in the form of the retained number 71 and the existing number 69 Gidley Way set 
further back into the site. There are buildings extending in depth on the nearby 
properties along this extent of Gidley Way and this proposal is contained within the 
established gardens of 69 and 71. I conclude that this site is within the settlement. 

6.5 The second step is to consider whether the proposal meets the definition of infill 
development. 

Planning permission has already been granted for 6 residential units on this site in the 
same configuration as proposed in this application. 

Approved layout P19/S1871/FUL          Proposed layout

         

Page 77



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

I am satisfied that both the extant permission and the proposed scheme fall within the 
definition of infill development. 

6.6 Policy CSR1 indicates that 5-6 houses will be permissible to accord with the overall 
spatial strategy set out in Policy CSS1. The extant permission provided for 6 units. 
However, there is already a dwelling on the site and therefore that permission only 
provided a net gain of 5 units.

This application seeks planning permission to create 7 units but is a net gain of 6 units 
on the site. I conclude that this still accords with the threshold of the number of units 
permissible by Policy CSR1.

6.7 Impact on the Green Belt.

Policy context - 
The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land 
permanently open. This is set out in Section 13 of the advice from Central Government 
in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 

The advice contained within the NPPF is filtered down on a more local level in the 
development plan, specifically SOCS policy CSEN2 and SOLP policy GB4. It is also 
reflected in emerging policy STRAT6 of ESOLP. 

6.8 Paragraph 134 of the NPPF sets out the five purposes of the green belt;
- to check the unrestricted urban sprawl of large built up areas;
- to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;
- to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;
- to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and
- to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and 

other urban land. 

In addition, there is a presumption against inappropriate development. Paragraph 143 
states that inappropriate development is by definition harmful to the Green Belt and 
should not be approved except in very special circumstances. 

Paragraph 144 states that when local authorities are considering planning applications 
substantial weight should be given to any harm to the Green Belt. It goes on to say that 
‘very special circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by 
reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other 
considerations

Paragraph 145 advises that a local planning authority should regard the construction of 
new buildings as inappropriate development in the Green Belt except for the following 
purposes;

a)buildings for agriculture and forestry;
b) the provision of appropriate facilities (in connection with the existing use of land or a 
change of use) for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation, cemeteries and burial grounds 
and allotments; as long as the facilities preserve the openness of the Green Belt and do 
not conflict with the purposes of including land within it;
c) the extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in 
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building;
d) the replacement of a building, provided the new building is in the same use and not 
materially larger than the one it replaces;

Page 78



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

e) limited infilling in villages;
f) limited affordable housing for local community needs under policies set out in the 
development plan (including policies for rural exception sites); and
g) limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously 
developed land, whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary 
buildings), which would:
‒ not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing 
development; or
‒ not cause substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt, where the 
development would re-use previously developed land and contribute to meeting 
an identified affordable housing need within the area of the local planning 
authority

6.9 The assessment of the impact to the Green Belt is therefore a stepped process in that a 
proposal needs to be considered in terms of whether the development is inappropriate 
and then whether it harms the openness of the Green Belt. If a development conflicts 
with either, then consideration has to be given as to whether there are any ‘very special 
circumstances’ that would outweigh this harm. 

6.10 Is the development inappropriate?

The exception to building in the Green Belt that relates to this development are the two 
elements highlighted above relating to infill and redevelopment at exceptions e) and g).

There is no definition within the NPPF to define what constitutes infill. In the absence of 
such a definition it is logical to defer to the local development plan definition. On the 
basis that I have accepted that in the context of housing policy the proposal constitutes 
infill development I arrive at the same conclusion in relation to the matter of the Green 
Belt. 

6.11 Does the development harm openness?

The built form on the site will be increased and in that respect the development will 
have an impact. 

Erecting a dwelling or dwellings on an open piece of land will always have an impact on 
openness. However, the fact that the NPPF does not consider infill development as 
inappropriate form of development means that there is an acceptance that some limited 
impact of having new buildings will result. 

Although this development is for 6 units these are essentially contained within three 
buildings as was the previously approved scheme. In my view this does not significantly 
harm the openness of the Green Belt beyond the implied tolerance that paragraph 145 
of the NPPF allows by permitting infill development. 

6.12 The development is therefore acceptable in Green Belt terms in my opinion and there is 
no need to undertake an assessment as to whether there are any ‘very special 
circumstances’ to justify the proposal in the Green Belt. 

6.13 Housing mix.

The SOCS Policy CSH4 requires developments providing market housing to 
demonstrate an appropriate housing mix. 

Page 79



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

This is reflected in emerging policy H11 of ESOLP. 

The Housing Needs Assessment (HNA) on which the policy CSH4 was based has been 
updated by the SHMA 2014, which provided an updated assessment of the housing 
needs for the district. It is important to note that the SHMA identifies that when applying 
the housing mix targets regard should be had to “the nature of the development site 
and character of the area, and to up-to-date evidence of need as well as the existing 
mix and turnover of properties at the local level.” This means that there will inevitably be 
some diversion from the SHMA targets

As a starting point the mix of units should reflect the SHMA as set out in the table 
below:

1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4+ bed
SHMA 6% 27% 43% 24%

6.14 The split between bedrooms from the permissions for housing in 2017/2018 for market 
housing is as follows;

6.15 The proposed mix for this development is as follows;

1 bed 2 bed 3 
bed

4+ bed

SHMA 6% 27% 43% 24%
Proposed 28.5% 28.5% 43% 0%

This scheme would provide smaller units in a sustainable location and could be argued 
to help redress some of the current imbalance. On those grounds I think that there is 
justification to have a mix that is not strictly SHMA compliant in this case.

6.16 The principle of development and the quantum of development are considered 
acceptable in relation to the development plan. 

If a proposed housing development is acceptable in principle in this case both in terms 
of housing policy and Green Belt policy, then the detail of the proposal must be 
assessed against the criteria of Policy H4 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 
(SOLP). The criteria are:

 An important open space of public, environmental or ecological value is 
not lost, nor an important view spoilt.

 The design, height, scale and materials of the proposed development are 
in keeping with its surroundings.

 The character of the area in not adversely affected.
 There should be no overriding amenity or environmental or highway 

objections. 
 It would not create problems of privacy and access and would not extend 

the built up limits of the settlement.

Page 80



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

These criteria are covered within the following sections of this report.

6.17 Neighbour impact.

Policy D4 of SOLP states that all new dwellings should be designed and laid out so as 
to secure a reasonable degree of privacy for the occupiers. Development will not be 
permitted if it would unacceptably harm the amenities of neighbouring properties 
through loss of privacy, daylight or sunlight. 
Impact on residential amenity is normally considered in terms of whether a 
development results in material harm by way of overlooking, loss of sunlight or being so 
large and close that it is considered oppressive and overbearing. 

I have considered the development in light of these three aspects. 

6.18 The position and scale of the buildings reflects that which has been granted planning 
permission previously as can be seen in the layouts at paragraph 6.5.

The key change is that the building comprising the approved 4 flats on the frontage of 
the site is being altered to create a fifth flat within the roof space.

A comparison between the two buildings can be seen below;

Approved building                                      

         

Proposed building

                        

The previous hipped roofs have now been enlarged to full gables and two dormer 
windows have been proposed on the non public facing roof slope to the rear. 

Page 81



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

6.19 Given that the previous scheme remains extant and is a strong fall back position, these 
changes do not in my opinion cause any materially greater impact on terms of being 
oppressive or overbearing.

The dormer windows like the approved first floor windows would look northward on to 
the gable end of the nearest proposed dwelling. This distance is sufficient in my view to 
ensure there will be no material overlooking. 

In addition, there are two first floor windows in the side elevations of the flat building. 
These are noted to be obscure glazed and I am of the view that a condition is 
necessary to ensure that they are retained as such. 

I am satisfied that the proposed development is not unneighbourly. 

6.20 Impact on the visual amenity of the area. 

Provision (ii) of Policy H4 states ‘the design, height, scale and materials of the 
proposed development are in keeping with its surroundings.’ whilst Provision (iii) states 
that the ‘character of the area in not adversely affected.’ 

6.21 As can be seen in paragraph 6.19 the changes between the approved and proposed 
designs for the building on the frontage are relatively modest and, in my view, actually 
improve the buildings appearance. The development as shown on the plans will be in 
keeping with the character of the site and the surrounding area and accord with 
provision (ii) of Policy H4. 
 

6.22 Amenity space.

Policy D3 of SOCS seeks to ensure that new dwellings should provide adequate private 
outdoor space. The amount of land to be used for garden or amenity space will be 
determined by the size of the dwelling and the character of surrounding development.

Emerging Policy DES5 of ESOLP recognises the importance of outdoor amenity space 
and states that new development should demonstrate that the size, location and 
character of the gardens have been considered as an integral part of the design. 

The South Oxfordshire Design Guide sets out the minimum amount of private amenity 
space (i.e. rear garden) based on the number bedrooms the property has. For 1 
bedroom units they should be providing for 35 square metres, 50 square metres for two 
bedroom units and for 3 bedroom units and above 100 square metres.

The inability to provide these minimum standards can be an indication that what is 
being proposed is an overdevelopment of the site. 

6.23 Units 6 and 7, as dwelling houses, have individual gardens both of which exceed 100 
square metres. 

For units 1-5 as flats it is accepted that amenity space can be put in a communal area. 
The proposal allows for both communal areas and individual spaces for units 1, 2 and 
4.

I am satisfied that there is sufficient amenity space for all properties and that the layout 
and overall siting of the units does not present an overdevelopment in accordance with 
Policy D3. 

Page 82



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

6.24 Highway impact.

With respect to highway safety matters the advice from Central Government set out in 
paragraph 109 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is as follows:

Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would 
be an unacceptable impact on highway safety.

Policy T1 of SOLP seeks to ensure that all types of development will, where 
appropriate, provide for safe and convenient access to the highway network. 

Policy T2 of SOLP seeks to ensure that development does not harm highway safety 
and provides for sufficient parking and turning areas.

Emerging Policy TRANS5 echoes these provisions. 

Appendix 5 of SOLP sets out the council’s maximum parking standards based on the 
number of bedrooms within a development.

For 1 bedroom units the maximum requirement is 1 space. For 2/3 bedroom units 2 
spaces and for 4+ bedrooms 2+ spaces on merit. 

6.25 The proposed flats include 7 parking spaces with an additional disabled parking space 
which is appropriate for the mix of units within the building. The applicants have pointed 
out that the number of spaces remains unchanged from the previous planning 
permission they have noted and it is recognised that the previous permission 
overprovided parking facilities. 

Access to the site is as previously approved.

6.26 The Highway Officer has considered the development in terms of the access, visibility, 
the amount of parking within the site and space available for turning and has no 
objection subject to conditions relating to these matters. In conjunction with these 
conditions the proposal will accord with Policies T1 and T2 of SOLP.

6.27 Impact on protected species. 

Policy CSB1 of SOCS states that a net loss of biodiversity will be avoided and 
opportunities to achieve a net gain across the district will be actively sought, It goes on 
to say that damage to protected or priority species will be avoided unless the 
importance of the development outweighs the harm and the loss can be mitigated to 
achieve a net gain in biodiversity. 

Policy C8 of SOLP states that development that would have an adverse effect on a site 
supporting a specially protected species will not be permitted, unless damage to the 
ecological interest can be prevented through the use of planning conditions or planning 
obligations.

The aims and objectives of these policies is reflected in emerging policy ENV3 of 
ESOLP. 

Page 83



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

6.28 69 Gidley Way is an identified bat roost and therefore the demolition of the structure will 
require mitigation to be incorporated into the development and a derogation licence 
from Natural England.

The addition of the unit into the southern building does not prohibit the development to 
provide the bat mitigation stated in section 5 of the supporting bat survey report. The 
bat loft described will need to be provided above units 6 and 7.

In conjunction with conditions which require the development to be carried out in 
accordance with the measures set out in the Phase 1 and 2 Bat Survey Report, no 
external lighting to be installed on the north western or north eastern elevations of Unit 
7 and that evidence is submitted to show the successful registration of the site under 
bat mitigation licence from Natural England the development will accord with Policies 
CSB1 and C8 of the development plan. 

6.29 Impact on trees.

Policy CSEN1 of SOCS seeks to protect the districts landscape character and key 
features. 

Policy C9 states that any development that would cause the loss of landscape features 
will not be permitted where those features make an important contribution to the local 
scene.

This is reflected in emerging Policy ENV1 of ESOLP. 

6.30 There are 2 walnut trees within this site that are subject to a tree preservation order 
(TPO).

The applicant has submitted a tree survey report. The council’s Tree Officer has no 
objections to the proposed development subject to tree protection and landscaping 
conditions being attached. 

The tree protection condition to ensure the satisfactory protection of retained trees is 
required because the submitted tree survey report does not provide enough detail 
relating to the tree protection measures. The landscaping condition is required to 
ensure that trees are planted to screen and soften the proposed development and to 
mitigate the loss of trees shown to be removed. The development will then accord with 
Policies CSEN1 and C9 of SOLP. 

6.31 Drainage. 

Policy EP6 of SOCS states that developers will be required wherever practicable to 
demonstrate that the surface water management systems on any development accords 
with sustainable drainage principles and should effectively mitigate any adverse effects 
from surface water runoff. 

Emerging Policy INF4 states that all development proposals must demonstrate that 
there is or will be adequate water supply, surface water, foul drainage and
sewerage treatment capacity to serve the whole development.

6.32 As with the previous scheme the development is acceptable in drainage terms and in 
accordance with these policies providing that details of the surface water and foul water 
schemes shall be submitted and agreed in writing by the council.

Page 84



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

 
6.33 CIL.

The development is CIL liable because it creates additional floor space and new 
dwellings. The CIL amount for this development is £40,808.73.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Your officers recommend that planning permission is granted because the proposal 

provides for a net gain of 6 new units on an infill site within Horspath. It follows on from 
a previous planning permission granted in 2019 and increases that development by a 
single one-bedroom unit provided within the roof space of on the two permitted 
buildings. The development is not inappropriate in the Green Belt and the buildings do 
not harm the openness. Adequate levels of parking and amenity space are being 
provided and the development provides for an adequate mix of units. The proposed 
conditions ensure there is no harm to protected species, trees or highway safety and 
the proposal accords with development plan policies. 

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 That planning permission is granted subject to the following conditions;

Standard conditions:
1 : Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission
2 : Approved plans 

Prior to commencement conditions:
3 : Schedule of Materials
4 : Surface water drainage works (details required)
5 : Foul drainage works (details required)
6 : Landscaping Scheme (trees and shrubs only)
7 : Tree Protection (Detailed)
8 : Construction Traffic Management (details required)
9 : European protected species licence

Prior to occupation conditions:
10 : Wildlife Protection (mitigation as approved)
11 : New vehicular access 
12 : Estate accesses, driveways & turning areas
13 : Close existing access
14 : Roads and footpaths prior to occupation
15 : Parking & Manoeuvring Areas Retained 
16 : Off-site highway works (implementation as approved)

Compliance conditions:
17 : Vision splay protection 
18 : No Surface Water Drainage to Highway
19 : Obscure glazing 
20 : No external lighting

Author:         Mr. P Bowers
E-mail :         planning@southoxon.gov.uk 
Contact No:  01235 422600

Page 85

mailto:planning@southoxon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



BUTTS RD

GID
LEY W

AY

0

NOTE:

ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 

THIS DRAWING.

FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

first issued drawn scale @ A4

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The Studio, 70 Church  Road, Wheatley, Oxford,  OX33  1LZ
01865 873936 info@andersonorr.com www.andersonorr.com

12.5 25 37.5 50 62.5

VISUAL SCALE (m) 1:1250

LOCATION PLAN

04/01/19 GH

69 - 71 GIDLEY WAY, HORSPATH,
OXON

18160 - L01 - A

LOCATION

GH

Location Plan

1:1250             

A 20/06/19 Boundary line amended to reflect accuracy of
topographical survey

Appendix 1

P
age 87

A
genda Item

 9
P

20/S
0453/FU

L



No. 71  

No. 69  

No. 69 outbuildings to be 
demolished

No. 71 outbuildings to 
be demolished

vehicular entrance to No.69

vehicular entrance 
to No.71

boundary fence   

0

NOTE:

ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 

THIS DRAWING.

FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

first issued drawn scale @ A3

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The  Studio, 70 Church  Road, Wheatley, Oxford, OX33 1LZ
01865 873936 info@andersonorr.com www.andersonorr.com

5 10 15 20 25

VISUAL SCALE (m) 1:500

1 : 500

EXISTING BLOCK PLAN

03/29/19 GH

69 - 71 GILEY WAY, HORSEPATH,
OXON

18160 - PP0001 -

PLANNING

Site Block Plan

Appendix 2

P
age 88



GIDLEY WAY

No. 73

No. 2a

No. 61

shed and timber canopy to 
be demolished

No. 69 dwelling to be 
demolished

No. 69 outbuilding to be 
demolished

No. 71 to be retained

recycling waste bin store

waste bin store

units 1-5

existing 

units 6-7

bike store

DRAWING KEY:

Root Protection Area

Trees to be removed

0

NOTE:

ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 

THIS DRAWING.

FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

first issued drawn scale @ A3

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The  Studio, 70 Church  Road, Wheatley, Oxford, OX33 1LZ
01865 873936 info@andersonorr.com www.andersonorr.com

5 10 15 20 25

VISUAL SCALE (m) 1:500

1 : 500

PROPOSED BLOCK PLAN

03/29/19 GH

69 - 71 GIDLEY WAY, HORSPATH,
OXON

18160 - PP0010 - A

PLANNING

Site Block Plan

A 28/01/20 Design update

01 - Block Plan

P
age 89



43000

43000

GIDLEY WAY

EXISTING 
HOUSE

UNIT 7 
GARDEN

UNIT 6 
GARDEN

TURNING 
AREA

REAR 
GARDEN

2
4
0

0

No. 2a

COMMUNAL 
AMENITY SPACE

COMMUNAL 
AMENITY SPACE

UNIT 1 AMENITY SPACE

UNIT 2 AMENITY SPACE

1
: 1

0

1
:1

2

124.35

124.15
124.15

121.92

120.18

121.01

124.07

122.17

121.27

124.35

124.35

123.49

UNIT 2

UNIT 1

STAIRWELL

UNIT 6

UNIT 7

121.85

unit 1 private amenity space

unit 2 private amenity space

communal parking spaces 
to serve units 1 - 5

4 private parking spaces 
to serve existing house

visitor parking space to serve units 1 - 5

communal parking spaces to 
serve units 1 - 5

visitor parking space to 
serve units 6 & 7

2 parking spaces designated 
to each to unit 6 & 7

relocated and improved vehicular 
access point

existing vehicular access point 
blocked up and landscaped

banked earth to rear terrace

banked earth to pathway

2.4m x 43m visibility splay

planting and landscaping around 
communal entrance

existing vehicular access partially 
blocked up and landscaped

waste collection point

fire engine turning and 
tracking illustration

communal bin storage

communal recycling bin 
storage

2.4m x 43m visibility splay

UNIT 4 AMENITY 

SPACE

A

A

BIKE STORE

disabled

B B

rumble strip

shared surface pathway

shared surface pathway

73

1
:1

0

DRAWING KEY:

Existing trees

Proposed trees

Root Protection Area

Trees to be removed

0

NOTE:

ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 

THIS DRAWING.

FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

first issued drawn scale @ A1

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The Studio, 70 Church  Road, Wheatley, Oxford,  OX33  1LZ
01865 873936 info@andersonorr.com www.andersonorr.com

2 4 6 8 10

VISUAL SCALE (m) 1:200

1 : 200

PROPOSED SITE PLAN

05/20/19 GH

69 - 71 GIDLEY WAY, HORSPATH,

OXON

18160 - PP0011 - B

PLANNING

Site Block Plan Copy 2

01 - Site Plan

A 23/07/19 Addition of pedestrain path and entrance
rumble strip

B 28/01/20 Design update

P
age 90



DATUM - 119000

grey composite windows 

slate tile roof

red brickwork

vertical weatherboarding panel

grey composite doors & windows

toughened glass balcony railing

1.8m high privacy screen

DATUM - 119000

grey composite doors & windows

red brickwork

toughened glass balcony railing

1.8m high privacy screen

slate tile roof

dormer windows

vertical weatherboarding 
panel

vertical weatherboarding 
panel

grey composite windows

DATUM - 119000

obscure glass

DATUM - 119000

obscure glass

1.8m high privacy 
screen

obscure glass

0

NOTE:

ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 

THIS DRAWING.

FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

first issued drawn scale @ A2

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The Studio, 70 Church  Road, Wheatley, Oxford,  OX33  1LZ
01865 873936 info@andersonorr.com www.andersonorr.com

1 2 3 4 5

VISUAL SCALE (m) 1:100

1 : 100

UNITS 1-5 - PROPOSED ELEVATIONS

05/20/19 GH

69 - 71 GIDLEY WAY, HORSPATH,
OXON

18160 - PE0012 - A

PLANNING

Units 1-5 - South East

Units 1-5  - North West

A 28/01/20 Design update

Units 1-5 - North East

Units 1-5 - South West

P
age 91



brickwork

slate tile roof

solid panel

obscure glazing

vertical weatherboarding

vertical weatherboarding 

grey composite windows

Unit 6 Unit 7

brickwork

brickwork

slate tile roof

solid panel

vertical weatherboarding

grey composite doors

Unit 6Unit 7

brickwork

DATUM - 122000

Unit 7

DATUM - 122000

Unit 6

0

NOTE:

ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 

THIS DRAWING.

FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

first issued drawn scale @ A2

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The Studio, 70 Church  Road, Wheatley, Oxford,  OX33  1LZ
01865 873936 info@andersonorr.com www.andersonorr.com

1 2 3 4 5

VISUAL SCALE (m) 1:100

1 : 100

UNITS 6-7 - PROPOSED ELEVATIONS

05/20/19 GH

69 - 71 GIDLEY WAY, HORSPATH,
OXON

18160 - PE0013 - A

PLANNING

Units 6-7 - North East

Units 6-7 - South West

A 28/01/20 Design update

Units 6-7 - North West

Units 6-7 - South East

P
age 92



69 - 71 GIDLEY WAY

proposed new trees

Existing trees ref. T1 & T2 to be retained and 
protected. 

Existing trees to be retained and protected. 

0

NOTE:

ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 

THIS DRAWING.

FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

first issued drawn scale @ A2

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The Studio, 70 Church  Road, Wheatley, Oxford,  OX33  1LZ
01865 873936 info@andersonorr.com www.andersonorr.com

2 4 6 8 10

VISUAL SCALE (m) 1:200

1 : 200

PROPOSED STREET ELEVATION

05/20/19 GH

69 - 71 GIDLEY WAY, HORSPATH,
OXON

18160 - PE0010 - A

PLANNING

SECTION A - A

DRAWING NOTE:

All existing landscaping and planting shown are 
indicative and is shown to demonstrate intent.

Neighbouring properties are shown indicatively 
according to OS map data, and are not 
accurately measured.

PROPOSED GIDLEY WAY STREET ELEVATION

A 28/01/20 Design update

P
age 93



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

APPLICATION NO. P19/S2814/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 4.9.2019
PARISH WHEATLEY
WARD MEMBER(S) Alexandrine Kantor
APPLICANT Mr Neil Marriott
SITE 2A Littleworth, OX33 1TR
PROPOSAL Erection of dwelling with associated access and 

landscaping works (As amended by drawing PA02 
Rev C altering access and car port and amplified by 
vehicle tracking plan accompanying email from 
agent received 20 November 2019)

OFFICER Paul Bowers

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The application is recommended for approval subject to planning conditions. 

This report sets out the officer’s recommendation to grant planning permission for the 
development and the justification and reasoning as to how that recommendation has 
been reached. 

1.2 The application is referred to planning committee at the discretion of the Planning 
Manager. 

1.3 The application site is located in the Littleworth area of Wheatley and consists of part 
of the garden of No.2A Littleworth which is a detached one and half storey dwelling 
built predominantly in brick of a modern design and construction. 

The site is lower than the level of the road and a small brook runs to the rear (northern 
boundary) of the plot.

1.4 Planning permission has previously been refused and dismissed at appeal in 2003 
under application reference P02/N0736 for a three bedroom dwelling and separate 
double car port. The single reason for refusal was as follows;

1.5 There are residential properties surrounding the site and a commercial car garage to 
the south and opposite. A plan identifying the site is attached as Appendix 1.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The application seeks full planning permission from the council for the erection of a two 

storey, detached, three bedroom property with detached, double car port. 

The application has been amended to address the Highway Authorities original 
concerns and altered the proposed access along with the car port. A tracking plan has 

Page 95

Agenda Item 10

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S2814/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

also been provided to demonstrate how a car can enter the site turn and exit in a 
forward gear. 

2.2 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application is attached as Appendix 2 
to this report. 

All the plans and representations can be viewed on the council’s website 
www.southoxon.gov.uk under the planning application reference number.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Wheatley Parish Council – The parish council object to the development for the 

following reasons;

- The site is a countryside corridor used by bats.
- The stream on this site needs to be maintained.
- Concern over land contamination. 
- Highway safety concerns in relation to the new access, change in levels and 

visibility. 
- Overlooking of properties in Keydale Road to the north. 

Neighbour Responses – 

3 x letters of objection to the original plans covering the following issues;
- The proposal does not address the issues of the previously refused application. 
- Concern over highway safety of vehicles exiting the site. 
- Concern over flooding issues and the impact on the water course.
- Concern over the wildlife corridor.
- Concern over land contamination. 
- Overdevelopment of the site.

4 x letters of objection to the revised plans covering the following issues;
- The revisions do not overcome original concerns.
- Overlooking of properties on Keydale Road.
- Concerns over highway safety. 
- Concerns over drainage and the environment remain. 
- Damage to roadside infrastructure

OCC Highways Officer – No objection to the revised plan and additional information 
subject to conditions which relates to the new access being to OCC standard, the vision 
splay is protected, the parking and manoeuvring areas are retained, that the car port is 
retained as such and not used for living purposes and that off site highway works are to 
be approved. 

Countryside Officer – No objection subject to conditions requiring an exclusion zone 
to avoid impact to the watercourse and no external lighting. 

Drainage Engineer – No objection following additional information being provided and 
subject to conditions relating to surface water and foul water drainage details to be 
submitted and approved. 

Contaminated Land – No objection subject to conditions requiring a phased risk 
assessment to be submitted and approved a condition that requires the remediation to 
be carried out.

Page 96

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P19/S0590/PEM – Response (20/03/2019)

Erection of a new residential property on land adjacent to 2a Littleworth.

P02/N0736 - Refused (08/01/2003) - Appeal dismissed (12/09/2003)
Erection of a dwelling.  Formation of access.  

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy
CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSB1  -  Conservation and improvement of biodiversity
CSQ3  -  Design
CSR1  -  Housing in villages

South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies;
C8  -  Adverse affect on protected species
D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D7  -  Access for all
EP1  -  Adverse affect on people and environment
EP8  -  Contaminated land
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
H4  -  Housing on sites within the built up areas of towns and villages
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

5.2 Paragraph 48 of the NPPF allows for weight to be given to relevant policies in emerging 
plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise, and only subject to the 
stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of unresolved objections and the degree of 
consistency of the relevant emerging policies with the NPPF.

Emerging Wheatley Neighbourhood Plan (WNDP)
Wheatley Parish Council are working on a neighbourhood plan. The plan was heading 
to referendum but this was deferred due to the Coronavirus restrictions on movement 
put in place in March 2020. Emergency legislation changes have been recently been 
made which means that Neighbourhood Plan referendums have been delayed for a 
year until 6 May 2021. Changes to the NPPG now say that for plans where the 
referendum has been delayed, they should be given significant weight. The relevant 
policies are;
H1 – Design and character principles
H2 – Landscape character
H4 – Infill and elf building dwellings
P1 – Parking provision
T1 – Impact of development on the road network
EN1 – Biodiversity

Page 97

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S0590/PEM
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P02/N0736


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

South Oxfordshire Emerging Local Plan 2034 (ESOLP)Policies 
The council is currently progressing the emerging local plan through the examination 
stage. The plan currently carries limited weight. Relevant policies include;
DES1E  -  Delivering high quality development
DES2E  -  Enhancing local character
DES3E  -  Design and Access Statements
DES5E  -  Outdoor amenity space
DES6E  -  Residential amenity
ENV1E  -  Landscape and countryside
ENV3E  -  Biodiversity Non designated sites, habitats and species
EP4E  -  Flood risk
H16E  -  Infill development
INF4E  -  Water resources
TRANS5E  -  Consideration of development proposals

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 

applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local 
planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far 
as material to the application, and to any other material considerations.

In the case of this application, the most relevant parts of the Development Plan are the 
South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 (SOCS) which was adopted in December 2012 
and the saved policies of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP)

6.2 The main issues to consider in relation to this proposal are as follows;

 The principle of development.
 What has changed since the previously refused scheme in 2003.
 Whether the proposal accords with the criteria of Policy H4. 
 Plot coverage and garden size.
 Impact on highway safety.
 Impact on the amenities of the occupants of nearby properties. 
 Impact on ecology.
 Contamination. 
 Drainage and flooding.
 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)

6.3 The principle of development.

Policy CSS1 of SOCS requires that proposals for development should be consistent 
with the overall strategy of focusing major new development at the growth point of 
Didcot, supporting the roles of the three market towns by providing, amongst other 
things, new houses. It states that outside of towns and villages and other major
developed sites any change will need to relate to very specific needs such as those of 
the agricultural industry or the enhancement of the environment. 

The Council’s housing strategy set out in Policy CSS1 seeks to provide new housing in 
sustainable locations directing new housing to the four main towns in the district and 
within existing settlements. Outside of settlements new housing is not supported by the 
development plan.

Page 98



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

This is reflected in emerging policy STRAT1 from ESOLP but that policy carries limited 
weight at this stage. 

Wheatley is classified in Appendix 4 of SOCS as a ‘Larger Village’.

Policy CSR1 relates specifically to housing in villages and indicates that in ‘Larger 
villages’, infill development of an unrestricted number of dwellings and size of site on 
would be permissible.

The approach is also reflected in Policy H16 of ESOLP but this carries limited weight at 
this stage. The approach to infill development is also reflected in the emerging Policy 
H4 of the Wheatley Neighbourhood Plan which carries significant weight in decision 
making at its stage of development. 

6.4 Infill is defined in Appendix 1 of SOCS as the filling of a small gap in an otherwise built 
up frontage or on other sites within settlements where the site is closely surrounded by 
buildings. 

6.5 The first step in the assessment is to determine whether Policy CSR1 of SOCS and H4 
of WNDP applies in terms of whether the site is within the village. 

I am satisfied that the site is located within the confines of the settlement with regard to 
the extent of built form in all directions. 

6.6 The second step is to consider whether the proposal meets the definition of infill 
development.

The site has a frontage on the road and although it is an existing gap it does haven’t 
another building immediately to the east. It is however surrounded on all sides by built 
form and I am satisfied that the proposal falls within the definition of infill development. 

In terms of housing policy, the erection of a new dwelling in this location is acceptable 
in principle. 

6.7 What has changed since the previously refused scheme in 2003?

Planning permission was refused for a similar scheme in 2003 for a single refusal 
reason which comprises two distinct elements. These were;

- The limited size of the site and to the difference in levels between the road and 
the site, the proposals would result in a cramped, awkward and unneighbourly 
form of development. 

- The proposed new driveway would detract from the privacy and amenity of the 
existing dwelling, 2a Littleworth by reason of noise and general proximity.

The appeal was dismissed by the Planning Inspectorate. The Inspectors decision is no 
longer in the council’s records so I am unable to determine the specific reason(s) which 
they found the scheme to be unacceptable. 

However, what we can take from this is that the principle of a house here is acceptable. 
However, the detail and the constraints of the site resulted in a development that wasn’t 
acceptable in terms of being cramped, awkward and unneighbourly. 

Page 99



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

6.8 The starting point for the consideration of any new application will be the previously 
refused scheme and whether anything has materially changed in the intervening period 
of time.

It is important to recognise that the 2003 decision was some 17 years ago and, in the 
intervening time, planning policy both at a national and local level has changed and 
evolved. Most notably national policy changed in 2012 with the NPPF and with it the 
fundamental thread throughout policy of the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. This is reflected at a local level within the South Oxfordshire Core 
Strategy and the council’s own individual policies.  

The South Oxfordshire Design Guide has also been reviewed in the intervening time 
with a revised Design Guide being adopted in 2016. 

The reason for refusal of permission did not relate to the principle of a house in this 
location and from that we can take that the council did not previously consider the 
principle of development as unacceptable. 

It is also important to recognise that the size of the site has changed from the 2003 
application. A further area of land to the north has been added to the previous site area 
increasing the overall size of the site.

The following section of this report relates to matters of neighbour impact and character 
which were referenced in the previous refusal reason. Overall however, 
I am satisfied that in terms of change in the size of the site and in national and local 
planning policy the council are justified in looking at this proposal in light of current 
policy and guidance and are not bound by the previous decision.

6.9 If a proposed housing development is acceptable in principle in this case both in terms 
of housing policy, then the detail of the proposal must be assessed against the criteria 
of Policy H4 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP). The criteria are:

 An important open space of public, environmental or ecological value is 
not lost, nor an important view spoilt.

 The design, height, scale and materials of the proposed development are 
in keeping with its surroundings.

 The character of the area in not adversely affected.
 There should be no overriding amenity or environmental or highway 

objections. 
 It would not create problems of privacy and access and would not extend 

the built up limits of the settlement.

Policy H1of WNDP also includes provisions which reflect the above and also makes 
reference to construction arrangements, the quality of internal and external living areas, 
the use of permeable surfaces and to proposals for garages. 

These criteria are covered within the following sections of this report.

6.10 Whether the proposal accords with the criteria of Policy H4. 

Provision (i) of Policy H4 states ‘an important open space of public, environmental or 
ecological value is not lost, nor an important view spoilt.’ 

Page 100



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

The site is not part of an important public open space of any specific interest. The 
ecological value of the site is considered as a separate issue later in this report. 

6.11 Provision (ii) states ‘the design, height, scale and materials of the proposed 
development are in keeping with its surroundings.’ whilst Provision (iii) states that the 
‘character of the area in not adversely affected.

The design, scale and materials are similar to the existing property at 2A Littleworth 
which this new property will visually relate to most in the wider area. 

In terms of the size of the site relative to the size of 2a Littleworth and the properties to 
the east in the line of development it is comparable if not larger. They all differ in shape, 
depth and size and in this context, I am satisfied that in terms of its surroundings the 
proposal presents a form of development in respect of the site and the design of the 
building which is in keeping and does not adversely affect the character of the area.

It is important to consider the change in levels between the position of the house which 
will be lower than the road. In my view this means that house will be lower and more 
discrete and as such the impact on the wider area is further reduced. 

6.12 Provision iv) of Policy H4 states that there should be no overriding amenity or 
environmental or highway objections. 

In terms of amenity this refers to both the amenity space being provided for the 
occupants of the existing and new property and also the amenity of occupants of 
nearby properties. These issues are also covered by other policies within SOLP such 
as Policy D3 and T1 and they are considered separately as they are fundamental 
issues to this proposal. 

Provision v) relates to back land development and seeks to ensure that it would not 
create problems of privacy and access and would not extend the built up limits of the 
settlement. This would not apply in this instance as the dwelling does not sit behind 
another and has a street frontage. 

Paragraph 6.19 of this report deals with any neighbour impact issues that arises from 
the development. 

Overall however I am satisfied that the development complies with the criteria of Policy 
H4. 

6.13 Plot coverage and garden size.

Policy D3 of SOCS seeks to ensure that new dwellings should provide adequate private 
outdoor space. The amount of land to be used for garden or amenity space will be 
determined by the size of the dwelling and the character of surrounding development.

Emerging Policy DES5 of ESOLP recognises the importance of outdoor amenity space 
and states that new development should demonstrate that the size, location and 
character of the gardens have been considered as an integral part of the design. 

Emerging Policy H1 of WNDP states that new development should provide a high 
quality of external space.

The South Oxfordshire Design Guide advises that as a minimum a 3+ bedroom 
property should provide for at least 100 square metres.

Page 101



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

The SODG also advises that there should be a minimum of 10 metres from the rear 
wall to the rear boundary. 

The proposed dwelling would have a private amenity area of some 500 square metres 
whereas the existing dwelling would be left with an area of some 300 square metres. 
The new dwelling also has distance from its rear wall to rear boundary of 10 metres. 

6.14 I am satisfied that both the existing and proposed dwelling far exceed the council’s 
minimum standards in this respect and given the size and shape of the two plots of land 
do not appear cramped or overdeveloped when considered in the context of the area in 
accordance with Policy D3 and emerging planning policy.

6.15 Highway impact.

With respect to highway safety matters the advice from Central Government set out in 
paragraph 109 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is as follows:

Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would 
be an unacceptable impact on highway safety.

Policy T1 of SOLP seeks to ensure that all types of development will, where 
appropriate, provide for safe and convenient access to the highway network. 

Policy T2 of SOLP seeks to ensure that development does not harm highway safety 
and provides for sufficient parking and turning areas.

Emerging Policy TRANS5  of ESOLP echoes these provisions. 

Policy P1 of WNDP states that new development should provide off road parking to 
meet the County Councils standards and should avoid tandem parking and large 
expanses of driveways.

Appendix 5 of SOLP sets out the council’s maximum parking standards based on the 
number of bedrooms within a development.

6.16 There is understandable local concern about the creation of a new access which would 
involve a vehicle leaving the site on an incline so close to the bend in the road and the 
bridge to the east of the site.

As originally submitted the OCC Highway Officer put forward a holding objection as 
they wanted to see some additional information. This was submitted in respect of 
providing a drawing that demonstrated the tracking of a vehicle coming into the site, 
turning and exiting in forward gear and a slight change in the car port dimension so that 
it met the minimum dimensions of a parking space. 

6.17 The Highway Authority are satisfied that the visibility at the junction is acceptable given 
the characteristics of the carriage way and likely vehicle speeds. The proposed 
conditions ensure that the parking and manoeuvring areas are retained, the car port is 
not converted at a later date, the vision splays are retained and not interrupted and that 
a scheme for works to the highway is approved.

6.18 Overall the development provides for adequate levels of on site parking and does not 
give rise to an unacceptable impact on highway safety.

The development therefore accords with Policy T1 and T2 of SOLP.

Page 102



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

6.19 Impact on the amenities of the occupants of nearby properties. 

Policy D4 of SOLP states that all new dwellings should be designed and laid out so as 
to secure a reasonable degree of privacy for the occupiers. Development will not be 
permitted if it would unacceptably harm the amenities of neighbouring properties 
through loss of privacy, daylight or sunlight. 

Impact on residential amenity is normally considered in terms of whether a 
development results in material harm by way of overlooking, loss of sunlight or being so 
large and close that it is considered oppressive and overbearing. 

I have considered the development in light of these three aspects. 

6.20 The previously refused application deemed the development as a whole being 
unneighbourly but specifically referencing the impact of the proposed driveway to the 
occupants of the existing property 2a Littleworth.

The driveway arrangement in terms of the access and it position relative to 2a 
Littleworth is the same as can be seen below;

2003 refused driveway;                        Current scheme;

       

A car would enter the site and be faced directly with a brick wall separating the 
driveway from land to the side of the building 2a Littleworth before immediately turning 
east into the site and parking. There is no direct looking into the house of 2a as a car 
enters the site. It is, in my view difficult, to see how the privacy of the occupants of 2a 
Littleworth would be harmed by the driveway as set out in the decision notice. 

It would also be a similar type of access arrangement to that experienced between 2a 
and 2b Littleworth. 

In this respect I believe it is possible to look at the council’s previous decision and take 
a different view by virtue of the passage of time and the absence of a detailed officers 
report which would explain how the impact of privacy was affected.

6.23 In respect of the physical building it will sit alongside 2a Littleworth in a typical street 
scene relationship. The gap between the buildings and their juxtaposition to each other 
means that the new building will not be overbearing or oppressive or cause a material 
loss of sunlight. 

Page 103



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

The only window at first floor level looking toward 2a is a bathroom window and a 
proposed planning condition ensures that this will be obscure glazed and fixed shut. 
Any views from the first floor rear windows in the new building will be oblique across the 
rear garden. This is a typical relationship in a street and the level of overlooking would 
not be materially greater than that which occurs already with 2b Littleworth on the 
opposite side.

Overall the impact to 2a Littleworth is acceptable in my opinion. 

6.24 Objections have been received from properties to the north and rear of the site on 
Keydale Road on the basis of overlooking from the first floor rear windows in the new 
dwelling. 

The SODG advises that from a first floor window in the rear of one property to the first 
floor window in another the distance should be no less than 25 metres.

In this case the properties on Keydale Road are single storey. There is no guidance for 
such a distance between a two storey building and the rear of a single storey building. 
In this case the distance is some 33 metres. In my view this is a fairly significant 
distance and weighing in the balance that the new dwelling is not materially closer than 
the dwelling at 2a Littleworth which also includes first floor windows in the rear, I am of 
the view that the level of overlooking that will be created will not be materially harmful. 
Overall, I conclude that this proposal does not cause an unneighbourly impact and 
accords with Policies D4 and H4 of SOLP. 

6.25 Impact on ecology.

Policy CSB1 of SOLP states that a net loss of biodiversity will be avoided, and 
opportunities to achieve a net gain across the district will be actively sought.

Policy C6 of SOLP states that in considering proposals for development, the 
maintenance and enhancement of the biodiversity resource of the district will be sought. 
Full account of the effects of development on wildlife will be taken. 

Where there is any significant loss in biodiversity as part of a proposed development, 
the creation and maintenance of new landscape features, habitats, habitat links and 
wildlife corridors of appropriate scale and kind will be required to ensure there is no net 
loss in biodiversity resources.

The application is supported by an ecological survey report.

The primary habitat impacted by development is amenity grassland, although a
stream is in the garden and of an increased ecological value.

6.26 The stream follows the old line of a railway, which forms an important commuting 
corridor for bats in the local area - leading to Horspath Tunnel. As such, lighting on the 
northern elevation of the structure will need to be restricted to preserve a dark corridor.

The proposed dwelling is close to the stream, but would not be closer than the
existing dwelling. As such, the council’s Ecologist considers the siting is acceptable, but
it is expedient to require a construction exclusion zone to be adhered to during the 
building phase to minimise any impacts on the stream.

Planning conditions are proposed securing these items and therefore the proposal will 
accord with development plan policies CSB1 and C6.

Page 104



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

6.27 Contamination.

Policy EP8 of SOLP states that development on contaminated land will not be permitted 
unless the contamination is effectively treated by the developer to prevent any harm to 
human health and the wider environment.

A Phase 1 Environmental Site Assessment Report has been submitted with the 
application and identifies a moderate/high risk to the proposed development from land 
contamination making recommendations for intrusive investigations. 

To ensure that any risk from land contamination are addressed, the council’s 
Contaminated Land Officer has recommended that conditions are imposed which 
require that a phased risk assessment is submitted and a second condition which would 
then require the remediation to be carried out.

In conjunction with these conditions the development will accord with Policy EP8. 

6.28 Drainage and flooding. 

Policy EP6 of SOCS states that developers will be required wherever practicable to 
demonstrate that the surface water management systems on any development accords 
with sustainable drainage principles and should effectively mitigate any adverse effects 
from surface water runoff. 

Emerging Policy INF4 states that all development proposals must demonstrate that 
there is or will be adequate water supply, surface water, foul drainage and
sewerage treatment capacity to serve the whole development.

6.29 Initially the Council’s Drainage Engineer required additional information in the form of 
levels information so that the levels of the site can be reviewed in connection with Flood 
Zone 2 and 3 and surface water attenuation to discharge to the water course.

This information was provided, and the Drainage Engineer removed their holding 
objection.

They are satisfied that the site is not at risk of flooding and furthermore, will not 
exacerbate flooding in the proximity.  They do however recommend the inclusion of pre 
commencement drainage conditions relating to both surface water and foul water that 
require details in these regards to be submitted and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. 

6.30 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)

The development is CIL liable and would generate a liability of £28,238.18.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The proposal will create a new dwelling in a sustainable location within one of the larger 

villages in the district. The design and appearance of the building is acceptable in the 
context of the immediate area and provides for adequate levels of parking and amenity 
space both for the new dwelling but also the existing. There will be ecological and 
highway impacts from the development but in conjunction with the attached conditions 
the impacts mitigated to an acceptable extent and the proposal will accord with 
development plan policies. I recommend that planning permission is granted

Page 105



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 10 June 2020

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 That Planning Permission is granted subject to the following conditions; 

Standard conditions - 
1 : Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission
2 : Approved plans 

Pre commencement conditions- 
3 : Wildlife Protection – watercourse
4 : Surface water drainage works (details required)
5 : Foul drainage works (details required)
6 : Contaminated Land (preliminary risk assessment)
7 : Off-site highway works (details to be submitted)

Prior to occupation conditions – 
8 : Contaminated Land - Remediation Strategy
9 : New vehicular access
10 : Parking & Manoeuvring Areas Retained
11 : Vision splay protection
12 : Obscure glazing first floor bathroom window

Compliance conditions - 
13 : Materials as on plan
14 : No Garage conversion into accommodation
15 : No external light on the north elevation

Author:         Mr. P Bowers
E-mail :         paul.bowers@southandvale.gov.uk
Contact No:  01235 422600

 

Page 106

mailto:paul.bowers@southandvale.gov.uk


2

4

5

2

6

LB

3

0

2

8

2

b

2

1

6

K

E

Y

D

A

L

E

 
R

O

A

D

2

a

6

1

6

1

2

1

4

5

C

O

O

P

E

R

S

 
W

A

Y

1

2

2

1

4

2

Industrial Estate

6

3

0

4
5

8
7

0
0

4
5

8
7

0
0

4
5

8
7

5
0

4
5

8
7

5
0

4
5

8
8

0
0

4
5

8
8

0
0

205500 205500

205550 205550

205600 205600

205650 205650

4
5

8
6

8
6

205482

4
5

8
6

8
6

205681

4
5

8
8

4
9

205681

4
5

8
8

4
9

205482

SP5805 SP5805

SP5805SP5805

THIS DRAWING IS THE COPYRIGHT OF GUY ROBERTS

ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE AMENDED, COPIED OR

REPRODUCED WITHOUT WRITTEN PERMISSION. NO

LIABILITY WILL BE ACCEPTED FOR AMENDMENTS MADE BY

OTHER PERSONS.

DO NOT SCALE OFF THE DRAWINGS.

scale date drawn by

project dwg. no. rev.

GUY ROBERTS R.I.B.A.

2 THE CROSSING COTTAGES

74 NETHERCOTE ROAD

TACKLEY

OXON. OX5 3AT

T: 07971 970 311

E: info@guyr.co.uk

PA 1001928

GR23.7.191: 1250 @A4

NEW HOUSE

LOCATION PLAN 

OXON OX33 1TR

LITTLEWORTH 

LAND ADJACENT TO 2A

scale

0 10m 20m 30m 40m 50m

northAppendix 1

Page 107

Agenda Item 10P19/S2814/FUL



FRONT  ELEVATION SIDE  ELEVATION - Facing 2a

REAR ELEVATION

SIDE  ELEVATION - Facing garden

GROUND

FIRST

Plain concrete tiles

Coloured render

Timber d/g windows

Red brick plinth

Plain concrete tiles

Red bricks

Timber d/g windows

Plain concrete tiles

Plain concrete tiles

Red brick

Coloured render

Car port Proposed new house

Littleworth

Road

Littleworth

Road

4800
5800

2a

2b

Gravel parking area

Littleworth Road

1
8

0
0

m
m

 
h

i
g

h
 
f
e

n
c
e

brook

lawn

car port

f
o

o

t
p

a

t
h

Industrial Estate

close boarded fence

Hedge reduced in height

and cut back

Footway extended

brick wall

brick wall

b
r
i
c
k
 
w

a
l
l

scale

0 1m 2m 3m 4m 5m0.5m

THIS DRAWING IS THE COPYRIGHT OF GUY ROBERTS

ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE AMENDED, COPIED OR

REPRODUCED WITHOUT WRITTEN PERMISSION. NO

LIABILITY WILL BE ACCEPTED FOR AMENDMENTS MADE

BY OTHER PERSONS.

DO NOT SCALE OFF THE DRAWINGS.

scale date drawn by

project dwg. no. rev.

GUY ROBERTS R.I.B.A.

2 THE CROSSING COTTAGES

74 NETHERCOTE ROAD

TACKLEY

OXON. OX5 3AT

T: 07971 970 311

E: info@guyr.co.uk

P
L
A

N
N

I
N

G
 

C

PA021928

GR23.7.191:100 + 200 @ A1

PLANS + ELEVATIONS

PROPOSED:

OXON OX33 1TA

WHEATLEY

LAND ADJACENT TO 2A LITTLEWORTH

NEW HOUSE

n

o

r

t

h

S I T E   P L A N   1 : 2 0 0

scale

0 2m 4m 6m 8m 10m1m

P L A N S  +  E L E V A T I O N S   1 : 1 0 0

n

o

r

t

h

REFER TO GLANVILLE DRAWING + REPORT FOR

VISIBILITY SPLAYS COMPLIANCE.

REV. B. Minor amendments to car port, dimensions added . 4.11.19

REV. C. Minor amendments to aid vehicle turning. 19.11.19

Appendix 2

P
age 108



Gravel parking area

lawn

car port

Hedge reduced in height

Gravel parking area

lawn

car port

Hedge reduced in height

Gravel parking area

lawn

car port

Hedge reduced in height

Gravel parking area

lawn

car port

Hedge reduced in height

2a

Littleworth Road

1
8
0
0
m

m
 
h
i
g
h
 
f
e
n
c
e

Hedge reduced in height

and cut back

Footway extended

brick wall

brick wall

b
r
i
c
k
 
w

a
l
l

2a

Littleworth Road

1
8
0
0
m

m
 
h
i
g
h
 
f
e
n
c
e

Hedge reduced in height

and cut back

Footway extended

brick wall

brick wall

b
r
i
c
k
 
w

a
l
l

ENTRY

Drawing No.

Rev

Date :

Scale :

Status :

Project Engineer :

Project Director   :

Title :

Project :

Client :

Rev.
Description

Chkd

postbox@glanvillegroup.com  www.glanvillegroup.com

Glanville

62 Foxhall Road, Didcot

Oxon, OX11 7AD

Date

Tel: (01235) 515550  Fax: (01235) 817799

Cornerstone House

8190391/6201 A

Neil Marriott

Land at 2A Littleworth, Wheatley

Littleworth, Wheatley

Swept Path Analysis

Private Car

E.Rowe

T.Foxall

1:250 @ A3

Nov 2019

NOTES

1. This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all relevant
documents and specifications.

2. Dimensions are not to be scaled.

Source: Guy Roberts Architect Project No. 1928,
Drawing No. PA02 Rev C

N

KEY

Private car - forward gear

Private car - reverse gear

EXIT

SOUTHERN SPACE - ENTRY

SOUTHERN SPACE - EXIT

NORTHERN SPACE - ENTRY

NORTHERN SPACE - EXIT

A Architects layout updated. Swept paths
revised to suit. T. Hart

19/11/19 VT

P
age 109



2

b

2

a

2

4.5m

6.5m

NOTES

This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all relevant documents
and specifications.

Dimensions are not to be scaled.

1.

2.

Reproduced from Ordnance Survey digital data
with the permission of the Controller of Her
Majesty's Stationery Office, Crown copyright
(AL814229).

Drawing No.

Rev

Date :

Scale :

Status :

Project Engineer :

Project Director   :

Title :

Project :

Client :

Rev. Description

Chkd

postbox@glanvillegroup.com  www.glanvillegroup.com

Glanville

62 Foxhall Road, Didcot

Oxon, OX11 7AD

Date

Tel: (01235) 515550  Fax: (01235) 817799

Cornerstone House

8190391/6101

Mr N Marriott

Land at 2a Littleworth, Wheatley

Site Access Visibility Splays

B. East

T. Foxall

1:250 @ A3

May 2019

PRELIMINARY

KEY

2.4m x 'y'm Visibility splays

Site boundary

Land under applicants control

25.8m

24.9m

Littleworth

0.0

Scale = 1:250 @ A3

5.0 10.0 15.0 20.0 25.05.0

Section of existing hedge to be
reduced in height or removed
within visibility splay

Existing footpath to
Keydale Road

Existing footway

Proposed footway
connection

Existing access to
2a to be retained

Initial gradient no
greater than 1:20

Ramp down to
proposed parking
area

P
age 110


	Agenda
	6 Public participation
	Schedule of Statements 10.06.20
	Pyrton PC PYR1 RM Planning Cttee submission v3
	Giles Brockbank, Ridge Consultants
	Matt Organ - Hartgrove pdf
	Anderson Orr Architects, 69-71 Gidley Way
	Wheatley PC P19S2814FUL

	7 P19/S2380/RM - Steven Orton Antiques, Shirburn Road, Watlington, OX49 5BZ
	Appendices A-B
	Appendix A
	Appendix B 1
	Appendix B 2
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Appendix B 3
	Sheets and Views
	3509.P.201 Plots 1-12 Elevations
	OLE1



	Appendix B 4
	Appendix B 5
	Appendix B 6
	Appendix B 7
	Sheets and Views
	3509.P.208 Plots 29-32 Floor Plans and Elevations
	OLE1



	Appendix B 8
	Sheets and Views
	3509.P.209 Plots 33-34 Floor Plans and Elevations
	OLE1



	Appendix B 9
	Appendix B 10
	Sheets and Views
	3509.P.215 Carehome Elevations
	OLE1



	Appendix B 11
	Appendix B 12


	8 P20/S0436/RM - Hartgrove, Oxford Road, Tiddington, OX9 2LH
	Appendices 1-2
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2_1
	Sheets and Views
	100 Location and Site plan-REV4


	Appendix 2_2
	Sheets and Views
	106 Existing Elevations-REV0


	Appendix 2_3
	Sheets and Views
	102 Proposed Elevations-REV3


	Appendix 2_4
	Sheets and Views
	105 Existing GF Plan-REV0


	Appendix 2_5
	Sheets and Views
	101 Proposed GF-FF-REV6


	Appendix 2_6
	Sheets and Views
	108 Turning circles Car1-REV0


	Appendix 2_7
	Sheets and Views
	109 Turning circles Car2-REV0


	Appendix 2_8
	Sheets and Views
	107 Vision Splay-REV1




	9 P20/S0453/FUL - 69-71 Gidley Way, Horspath, OX33 1RG
	Appendices 1-2
	Appendix 1
	Sheets
	L01 - LOCATION PLAN


	Appendix 2_1
	Sheets
	PP0001 - EXISTING BLOCK PLAN


	Appendix 2_2
	Sheets
	PP0010 - PROPOSED BLOCK PLAN


	Appendix 2_3
	Sheets
	PP0011 - PROPOSED SITE PLAN


	Appendix 2_4
	Sheets
	PE0012 - UNITS 1-5 - PROPOSED ELEVATIONS


	Appendix 2_5
	Sheets
	PE0013 - UNITS 6-7 - PROPOSED ELEVATIONS
	PP0013 - UNITS 6-7 - PROPOSED FLOOR PLANS


	Appendix 2_6
	Sheets
	PE0010 - PROPOSED STREET ELEVATION
	PE0011 - PROPOSED SECTIONAL ELEVATION
	PE0012 - UNITS 1-5 - PROPOSED ELEVATIONS
	PE0013 - UNITS 6-7 - PROPOSED ELEVATIONS
	PP0013 - UNITS 6-7 - PROPOSED FLOOR PLANS
	PP0016 - CIL AREA CALCULATIONS




	10 P19/S2814/FUL - 2A Littleworth, OX33 1TR
	Appendices 1 -2
	1 Appendix 1
	Sheets and Views
	Location


	2a Appendix 2_a
	Sheets and Views
	Plans


	2b Appendix 2_b
	Sheets and Views
	6201 - 2x2


	2c Appendix 2 c





